

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Strategies for Improving Small Restaurant Success Rates Beyond **Three Years**

Joseph Wilder Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Joseph Wilder

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

- Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
- Dr. Dina Samora, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
- Dr. Franz Gottleib, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies for Improving Small Restaurant Success Rates Beyond Three Years

by

Joseph Wilder

MS, King University, 2017

BS, King University, 2015

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2021

Abstract

Only 65% of new restaurants remain in business after the first three years of operations. Leaders of small restaurants who lack strategies to ensure sustainability witness significant financial losses in their organizations. Grounded in the general systems theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small restaurant owners use to sustain their business beyond three years. A purposeful sampling of three small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, who successfully used strategies to ensure sustainability beyond three years participated in this study. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, financial documents, and public websites and analyzed using thematic analysis. Three major themes emerged from data: customer service and relationships, product quality and consistency, and promotion and marketing. A key recommendation is for leaders to adopt a customer-centric approach to balance cost management to achieving long-term sustainability. The implications for social change include the potential for small restaurant owners to reduce employee turnover and unemployment levels and positively affect their communities by contributing to increased local spending and economic growth.

Strategies for Improving Small Restaurant Success Rates Beyond Three Years

by

Joseph Wilder

MS, King University, 2017

BS, King University, 2015

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my family, both those who passed before this study was complete and those who continue to give me the encouragement and support necessary to keep going. To my late grandmother, Willie, thank you for the iron devotion to see me achieve my goals, no matter what they were. To my wife, Elizabeth; You are the rock of perseverance that I needed to stand on whenever I could not go any further. To my children, Emma and Josiah, who believe anything is possible if you set your mind to it. I would also like to thank my parents, Shirley Cornell and Bob Wilder, and my late stepfather, Robert Cornell. Through their encouragement, support, love, and motivation, I was able to dream bigger than I thought possible.

Acknowledgments

I want to give a special acknowledgment to my chair, Dr. Tim Truitt, whose guidance and support was invaluable to me throughout this journey. Dr. T has continued to maintain my alignment while I did the same with my study. My SCM and URR also provided a trove of knowledge, expertise, and wisdom to improve the flow and synthesis of the study. To my colleagues, I truly appreciate all the advice, wisdom, and tips you shared throughout this journey. The time and other resources saved through their guidance and sharing were immensely valued. Finally, I acknowledge the past researchers and thank the participants of this study, for, without them, this study would have never been possible.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	1
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	2
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	General Systems Theory	. 10
	Alternative Theory (Contingency Theory)	. 15
	Business Strategies and Innovation	. 18

Entrepreneurial Activities and Behaviors	19
Effective Marketing	21
Competition and Competitive Advantages	24
Ideal Business Location	27
Customer Satisfaction and Engagement	29
Effective Leadership and Management	31
Predicting Business Success and Failure	34
Small Business Sustainability Challenges	35
Financial Constraints	36
Transition	37
Section 2: The Project	39
Purpose Statement	39
Role of the Researcher	39
Participants	41
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	43
Research Design	44
Population and Sampling	45
Ethical Research	47
Data Collection Instruments	48
Data Collection Technique	49
Data Organization Technique	51

Data Analysis	52
Reliability and Validity	53
Reliability	54
Validity	54
Transition and Summary	56
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	58
Introduction	58
Presentation of the Findings	58
Theme 1: Customer Service and Relationships	60
Theme 2: Product Quality and Consistency	65
Theme 3: Promotion and Marketing	69
Theme 4: Experience	71
Applications to Professional Practice	73
Implications for Social Change	74
Recommendations for Action	74
Recommendation 1	75
Recommendation 2	76
Recommendation 3	76
Recommendations for Further Research	77
Reflections	78
Conclusion	78
Deferences	90

List of Tables

Table 1. Response Rate From Small Restaurant Owners	59
Table 2. Themes	60
Table 3. Theme 1: Customer Service and Relationships	61
Table 4. Theme 2: Product Quality and Consistency	65
Table 5. Theme 3: Promotion and Marketing	69
Table 6. Theme 4: Experience	72

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Economic development in the United States relies heavily upon small business owners (Karadag, 2015). Small businesses account for 65% of net job creation for the private sector (SBA, 2018). Alstete (2014) stated that gaps in management skills, knowledge, and planning impact sustainability rates for small business owners and increase unemployment rates in the United States. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the relationship between strategies small restaurant owners use and sustainability beyond 3 years.

Background of the Problem

The U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) defines small businesses as those with 1-499 employees (SBA, 2018). Small businesses rely heavily upon capital streams for revenue and job creation, which in turn creates a healthier economy (SBA, 2018). Despite the latest technological advancements and communication platforms that enable small restaurants to compete on a similar level as larger corporations, small restaurants still fail at a high rate. As a result, identifying and analyzing the strategies of small restaurant owners that have successfully sustained a small restaurant for at least 3 years can provide guidance and insight to future entrepreneurs.

Problem Statement

Over one million restaurants operate in the United States, and the restaurant workforce comprises 10% of the overall U.S. workforce (National Restaurant Association, 2017). However, only 64.9% of the 45,182 independent restaurant businesses that opened in 2014 remained in business beyond 3 years (BLS, 2018). The

general business problem is that some small restaurant owners lack strategies to ensure sustainability, resulting in diminished profits and higher business failure rates. The specific business problem is that some small restaurant owners lack strategies to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The targeted population consisted of owners of three small restaurants in Washington County, Tennessee, who developed successful strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 3 years. The implications for social change included the potential for small restaurant owners to learn strategies they can use to sustain their businesses beyond 3 years, thereby reducing employee turnover and unemployment levels and positively affecting their communities by contributing to increased local spending and economic growth.

Nature of the Study

Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods are the three methods of researching the social science field (Yin, 2018). Quantitative researchers measure and study variables to quantify the relationship and variables (Park & Park, 2016). I did not examine the relationship between variables to explore strategies small restaurant owners use to sustain their businesses beyond 3 years, so the quantitative method was not appropriate. Mixed methods researchers employ both quantitative and qualitative data to examine a specific problem, not to identify the cause of the problem (Yin, 2018). I did not include a quantitative element in my study of the relationship between knowledge of strategies and

sustainability in small restaurant owners, so a mixed method approach was not appropriate. Qualitative researchers explore complex or hard-to-quantify phenomena to understand how and why questions about human experience (Park & Park, 2016). A qualitative research study was appropriate for my study of strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability of their businesses beyond 3 years.

Qualitative research designs include ethnographic, narrative analysis, phenomenological, and case study (Prasad, 2015). Ethnographic researchers study culture formation and development (Prasad, 2015), which was not the objective of this study. Narrative analysis researchers create a narrative story through an individual's experiences (Prasad, 2015), which was also not appropriate for my exploration of the strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Phenomenological researchers seek to explore lived experiences (Prasad, 2015). The phenomenological design was not appropriate as I did not seek to explore the lived experiences of small restaurant owners. Case study researchers use how or why style questions to explore complex phenomena in real-world situations (Yin, 2018), which was appropriate for my exploration of how small restaurant owners ensured sustainability beyond 3 years. Researchers conducting multiple case studies interview more than one business owner and entity to enable an intensive analysis of multiple individual units such as specific people, groups, or phenomena to uncover the inner workings of factors within each unit (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study was most appropriate for my study as I obtained and explored multiples sources of information to identify strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Research Question

The research question was: What strategies do small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies does your organization use to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
- 2. How did you identify strategies to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
- 3. How did you assess the effectiveness of strategies to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years?
- 4. What key barriers did you encounter in the implementation of strategies to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
- 5. How did you overcome these key barriers?
- 6. What additional information regarding strategies to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years would you like to share that we have not already discussed?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was general systems theory (GST). Von Bertalanffy (1950) introduced GST in 1937 at the University of Chicago and again in 1949 in a German journal. GST emerged out of a need to solve real-world problems (Skyttner, 2005). The core tenets of GST include solving real-world problems through understanding the interconnections and complexity of human existence and adopting

solutions that are complex yet understandable (Skyttner, 2005). A system is a collaboration of components working together as an interactive network (Sayin, 2016). To explain the interactions of the elements and functions of an open or closed system, a system theory establishes a logical, mathematical, self-consistent, self-existing, and coherent model (Sayin, 2016). Small restaurant owners can experience challenges related to finances, competition, and strategy use when establishing and sustaining their businesses. GST was appropriate for my study as the purpose of this study was to determine what strategies small restaurant owners used together as a system to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Operational Definitions

Entrepreneurship: Entrepreneurship is the practice of creating a new business to sell a product or provide a service (Kuratko, 2016).

Small business: A small business is any activity, firm, or trade carried out by a small group of people with less than 500 employees (SBA, 2018).

Small Business Administration (SBA): The United States (U.S.) SBA is an independent agency created through the Small Business Act of July 30, 1953, whose function is to aid, counsel, and protect the interests of small business owners (SBA, 2018).

Systems theory: Systems theory refers to the study of the abstract organization of phenomena and the relationship between the parts of a system that connect them into a whole (von Bertalanffy, 1950).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations have a positive relationship with the reliability and validity of the study. The researcher must understand and analyze the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study to recognize and address any weaknesses or gaps that may exist when solving the business problem. Addressing the weaknesses or gaps will ensure the production of the highest quality study and set appropriate expectations for small restaurant owners looking for strategies to ensure sustainability of their businesses beyond 3 years.

Assumptions

Assumptions are postulations accepted as the truth, although based on unverified beliefs (Field, 2015). Three assumptions guided this study of the strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure their businesses' sustainability beyond 3 years. First, I assumed that participants would provide accurate, non-biased answers to questions regarding what strategies they use to ensure their business's sustainability beyond 3 years. Second, I assumed that participants were qualified to answer the questions regarding ensuring sustainability of their business beyond 3 years. Third, I assumed that the number of participants included in this study would be sufficient to provide quality data for addressing the research question on small restaurant owners' strategies to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Limitations

Limitations are the thresholds beyond which a study cannot reach and the threats that are beyond control and may impact the validity of the study (Sufian, 2015). A

limitation of this study of strategies to ensure sustainability of small restaurants beyond 3 years was potential researcher bias towards the outcome of the study. I ensured that I addressed a business phenomenon that I had no relationship with to eliminate any potential bias. I did not work in a small restaurant, have plans to open a small restaurant in the future, have friends or relatives who work in a small restaurant, or have any financial investments in any small restaurants. Another potential limitation of the study pertained to the location of the participants I used to address the business phenomenon. The strategies that small restaurants located in Washington County, TN, use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years may not represent the same strategies that restaurants in other geographical locations used.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the thresholds and reach of the study (Hancock & Algozzine, 2017; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers deliberately impose delimitations to restrict and contain the study to a specific scope of data. The SBA (2018) defines small businesses as having less than 500 employees, so I did not include restaurants with more than 500 employees. The business phenomenon addresses the failure rates of small restaurants that fail within 3 years of operations, so I contacted small restaurant owners that had operated for more than 3 years. Another delimitation of the study was the location, as all the participants were in Washington County, TN.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Uncertainty and risk are the underlying threats behind start-ups and small and medium-sized enterprises (Herciu, 2017). Markets and environments are more complex and ever-changing, presenting challenges to scholars and practitioners alike (Linton, 2014). Small business owners in the United States create nearly two out of every three net new jobs and employ over half of the U.S. workforce (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2018). Applying and combining the findings of this study with other qualitative and quantitative research may provide business practitioners with the solutions to obtaining financing, effective employee management, and identifying the ideal business location, increasing the success rates of future small restaurant owners. Understanding what strategies small restaurant owners need to implement is crucial for business owners to respond correctly to market changes to increase sales and profitability. By implementing the strategies identified from this study, small restaurant owners may increase their sustainability rates beyond 3 years.

Implications for Social Change

Small businesses rarely face social responsibility pressures, and many small business owners do not believe that social responsibility will affect the business's profitability (Panwar et al., 2017). When a small restaurant fails, both local and national economies suffer, increasing unemployment and increasing the need for food and medical benefits. In the Washington County, Tennessee region, 288 accommodation and food service establishments employed 6,700 individuals (U.S. Census Bureau, 2016).

Consequently, small restaurants play a vital role in the local community, and identifying and sharing strategies of sustained success for small restaurants may accelerate new small business growth and assist in reducing employee turnover and unemployment levels and positively affect the community by contributing to increased local spending and economic growth.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Researchers enhance credibility and reduce bias by searching for literature in a systematic manner (Booth et al., 2016). Researchers conduct a literature review to examine a phenomenon through the collection of data from existing literature (Machi & McEvoy, 2016). The purpose of conducting this qualitative research study was to explore the strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Through analysis and argumentation, I presented the literature conducted on the topic and debated the similarities and differences between the findings. The scholars presented in this literature review have contributed their expertise, time, and other valuable resources to inform small business owners of the strategies that exist to ensure their business sustainability.

This literature review contains a comprehensive amount of research on the strategies for small business sustainability. The literature review contains extensive coverage of the foundational theory (GST) and an alternative theory (contingency theory). I detailed strategies that small business owners may successfully implement to provide and maintain long-term sustainability. I addressed the challenges and weaknesses that small business owners experience and exhibit while owning a small business.

This literature review contains literature from academic and peer-reviewed articles, books, government websites, and multiple databases. I used the Walden University databases ABI/INFORM Complete, ERIC, and ProQuest in addition to Google Scholar and government websites such as the United States SBA. I used the following keywords to search the existing literature: business strategies, contingency theory, general systems theory, marketing, restaurant success factors, small business challenges, small business customer service, small business leadership, small business location, small business management, small business risk management, and small business sustainability. The literature review includes 96 references, including 83 (86.5%) peer-reviewed references.

General Systems Theory

von Bertalanffy (1950) developed the GST in the 1940s to explore the unpredictable challenges modern business leaders face in an organization. Research conducted on GST indicated usefulness to researchers and business leaders alike in examining the relationships between phenomena either within or outside of an organization. von Bertalanffy stated that GST contained both open and closed systems; open systems allow interactions between the organization's internal elements and the external elements of the environment, and closed systems remain isolated from the environment and have no external interactions.

Most research regarding GST provides similar findings, with each researcher further cementing the theory and its' usefulness in a variety of fields. Systems theory can provide a unifying conceptual framework to understand the process of biological

evolution (Sayin, 2016). Sayin provided a comprehensive introduction to GST and detailed the conditions required for a GST to survive. Sayin's and von Bertalanffy's (1950) research on GST are similar in their understanding of GST; however, Sayin goes further into detail regarding the subcategories of systems theory, including general behavior systems theory. Additionally, both Sayin and von Bertalanffy's research indicated that modern business leaders should use GST to explore the "wholeness" of a business system, rather than using the traditional method of breaking the phenomenon into elementary units for analysis. As prior research (Sayin, 2016) grounds GST as a versatile approach to examining the whole, GST provided the best framework for addressing small restaurant owners' sustainability strategies.

Research studies indicated that using a complex systems approach can yield far greater results than using reductionist strategies. Diez-Roux (2011) used a complex systems approach to understand population health problems, including genetic factors and life course processes. Barr's (2013) study regarding interprofessional education indicated that GST could elucidate the learning process in health care. van der Schaft and Jeltsama (2014) used the Port-Hamiltonian systems theory to network model multiphysics systems ranging from artificial intelligence to computing mathematics.

Although GST may seem complex and foreign initially, a more in-depth understanding will reveal the system's intuitiveness to many professions (Hanson, 2014). Hanson (2014) defined and explained 31 GST concepts, including causality, action and inaction, emotion, tools, and data. Hanson's study is significant in providing an in-depth

yet easy to understand GST analysis and how GST is useful for a multitude of issues, ranging from nuclear disarmament, AIDS, anorexia, and spousal abuse.

Researchers have successfully applied GST in the communications, health, and safety fields. Lang (2014) used the dynamic human-centered communications systems theory to define and break down the elements of communication. Using a human-centric viewpoint, Lang described communication as a complex dynamic system that consists of a human, a message, a medium, and a location. In the health field, Amed (2015) stated that obesity prevention initiatives using systems theory have been effective in decreasing childhood obesity, thereby mitigating the risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Amed recommended applying this knowledge on a community-wide level to enhance the impact of obesity prevention initiatives. Researchers have used systems theory to establish an integrated approach to safety and security for a broad range of technology topics (Young & Leveson, 2014). The safety and security topics included computing and technology policy, computer crime, and the management of computing and information systems (Young & Leveson, 2014). However, contradictory research indicated that increasing complexity might not be the best strategy for all business owners.

Increasing systemic complexity yields differing results when examining the relationship between sustainability and the categories of system, environment, and complexity (Valentinov, 2014). When increasing complexity, Valentinov witnessed an increasing risk that systems developed an insensitivity to environmental conditions critical for survival. As such, Valentinov stated that it might be a rational decision for social systems to reduce internal complexity to maintain sustainability. Further, Luhmann

(2017) reported that systems theory fails to define the actor of structural processes, which may be concerning communication or self-reflexivity. GST lacks a universally agreed-upon definition (Adams et al., 2014). However, GST is a general approach to better understanding system behavior due to its multidisciplinary theoretical foundation (Adams et al., 2014). Thus, prior research indicated conflicting guidance to business practitioners considering applying systems theory to enhance business sustainability. As such, business practitioners may face uncertainty when choosing whether GST is the best approach for understanding and solving their specific business problems.

Researchers have attempted to mediate and diminish the confusion surrounding GST and its usefulness. To assist with understanding GST, researchers created a formal definition and system construct that characterizes and details how a system must operate (Adams et al., 2014). Research grounded in GST indicated that misaligned relationships between actors, structures, tasks, and technology resulted in the underutilization of technology (Hester, 2014). Hester (2014) included a diagnostic tool that allows practitioners to assess the underlying factors that may impede technology utilization. Realizing the complexities involved in GST, other researchers analyzed and interpreted the internal components that comprise GST to assist business owners with understanding and applying GST to their specific business problem (Flood, 2013).

Research indicated and liberated four strands (or themes) of study (Flood, 2013). These strands include the liberation of GST from (a) a natural tendency toward self-imposed insularity, (b) objectivist or subjectivist delusions, (c) internalized localized subjugations of discourse, and (d) for emancipation in response to domination and

subjugation in work and social situations. To address these tendencies and promote a cognitive understanding of systems theory, Flood (2013) identified and defined a view on truth and meaning. Flood's research draws similarities to von Bertalanffy's (1950) idea that researchers and business leaders can see the world from different perspectives through GST constructs. Prior research indicated what constitutes a system; websites, social media platforms, cars, forests, and a city are all examples of a system (Mangal, 2013). Mangal's (2013) study is significant as it indicated that the presence of a hierarchy does not necessarily improve a system. These researches parallel von Bertalanffy's study that described the importance of a comprehensive understanding of systems theory constructs, with newer studies (Sun, Hyland, & Cui, 2014) indicating an underutilization of systems thinking skills due to a lack of knowledge.

Research indicated that many business owners and managers lack the necessary training required for understanding GST. GST has stimulated new conceptualizations in organization theory and management practice (Kast & Rosensweig, 1972).

Understanding GST's constructs enable business leaders to develop better management skills for their business, as research shows that many business managers have no systems thinking skills (Sun et al., 2014). Similar research indicated that curriculums or other school programs do not teach managers systems thinking skills, with the only classes for these skills offered as "bolt-ons" (Gregory & Miller, 2014). The lack of inclusion from curriculums may negatively influence educators on the importance of theories-based education.

Some academics disagree with the use of theories or only support the use of one theory, as it may be too confusing to try to come to terms with multiple theories (Patton & McMahon, 2014). Patton and McMahon developed the systems theory framework (STF) to recognize the contributions of all theories within the career field. The STF has an increasingly broad range of utility, ranging from quality assessment processes, cultural groups and settings, and career counseling (Patton & McMahon, 2014). As a result, with limited deviations, research regarding GST provides extensive, complementary findings; however, rapid technological and innovation advancements on the topic may require further investigation. Researchers and practitioners may find that GST theory does not appropriately address their specific business problems; contingency theory may provide a more appropriate foundation for the business problem, depending on the particular variables and conditions of the business problem.

Alternative Theory (Contingency Theory)

There are many similarities between systems theory and contingency theory. GST encompasses contingency theory, and problems that exist from within whole systems also apply to contingency theory (von Bertalanffy, 1950). GST and contingency theory are similar in decision making and leadership (Meier, 2016). Similar to GST, researchers can analyze leadership abilities and attributes using the contingency theory. Fiedler (1964) developed a framework based on the contingency model that helps understand the factors that determine a leader's characteristics and their impact on group performance. Fiedler discovered a high correlation between the leader's ability score, the group's performance, and the degree of influence over the task. Although time-consuming, additional training

can modify a leader's behavior, and Fiedler recommended extensive research on the topic. Research on leadership ability and attributes using both GST and contingency theory produces similar findings; however, research gaps exist regarding leadership behavior and training.

Management accounting and supply chain risk management (SCRM) are also viable fields that researchers and practitioners can apply contingency theory. Otley (2016) applied contingency theory on management accounting and argued that using a mechanistic approach to develop control systems is not optimal. Instead, Otley proposed a management control package concept that continually changes and evolves. Different actors would loosely coordinate changes to the control package at different times, enabling a quicker response time to improve new system development (Otley, 2016). Alternatively, Grotsch et al. (2013) applied contingency theory in the automotive industry and developed hypotheses through consulting supply chain management and management accounting literature to analyze which antecedents foster proactive SCRM. Although many scholars suggest proactively managing SCRM, many businesses still fail to do so (Grotsch et al., 2013). Mechanical management control systems positively impact managing supplier insolvency risks (Grotsch et al., 2013). Although contingency theory appropriately addressed the business problems, the conflicting findings of SCRM research require further analysis to determine if different industries respond better to a mechanical or fluid SCRM approach.

Multiple studies on large and small firm management draw upon contingency theory. Taylor and Taylor (2014) investigated the influence of organization size on the

effective implementation of performance management systems (PMSs), building upon a limited amount of research on size effects. Using contingency theory, Taylor and Taylor developed eight hypotheses regarding size effects for PMS implementation. The findings of this study indicated that practices that enable PMSs in large firms are not necessarily as successful in SMEs (Taylor & Taylor, 2014). Also involving large firms, Menz and Scheef (2015) analyzed the chief strategy officer (CSO) presence in top management teams (TMTs). Menz and Scheef posited that an organization's structural and strategic complexity affects the decision to have a CSO and the CSO's impact. The presence of a CSO did not significantly affect the firm's financial performance (Menz & Scheef, 2015). The findings regarding size effects and CSO presence may indicate lower levels of control among top leadership in larger firms and warrant further research.

Researchers have also applied contingency theory to entrepreneurship and leadership styles. Linton (2014) used contingency theory to analyze the importance of increasing knowledge regarding entrepreneurship. Linton's study is significant due to entrepreneurship's relevance to economic output, social value, and job creation.

Increasing entrepreneurship knowledge can accelerate entrepreneurial activity for individuals, firms, and societies (Linton, 2014). McCleskey (2014) analyzed situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. Situational leadership follows Fiedler's (1964) contingency theory, as leadership is contingent on follower maturity (McCleskey, 2014). McCleskey provided an analysis of three leadership styles and analyzed modern leadership challenges and leadership development, discovering a need for leadership scholars to continue research into connections between

development and efficacy, organizations and outcomes, and leaders and followers.

Research on leadership styles through both contingency theory and GST has increased in recent years, and there are no current research gaps. Research indicated that leadership styles and impacts on performance might be significant to business owners in maintaining long-term sustainability.

Researchers may experience paradigm saturation in expanding contingency theory in future research. Some risk-averse researchers may be hesitant to continue researching contingency theory, as growing constraints such as sample availability, access to informants, and intolerance to qualitative work continue to increase (Bitektine & Miller, 2015). Bitektine and Miller (2015) stated that the introduction of new data had expanded the resource space; however, the data sources lack legitimization within the paradigm and thus do not create publishing opportunities. These constraints can lead to paradigm abandonment, with few researchers willing to challenge the boundaries with limited resources available (Bitektine & Miller, 2015). Although contingency theory can assist business owners in maintaining long-term sustainability, GST provided a useful framework for studying long-term sustainability in small restaurant owners, as I viewed small businesses as complex systems.

Business Strategies and Innovation

Research indicated that business owners might need to implement multiple strategies to maintain sustainability. Small and medium-sized businesses (SMB) in declining or volatile markets can develop a multiple-strategy approach to sustain growth (Bamiatzi & Kirchmaier, 2014). Bamiatzi and Kirchmaier (2014) stated that SMB owners

could develop and pursue both innovative differentiation and a product or service-customization strategy. SMB owners in strained markets should intentionally search for high-margin products, avoid aggressive price competition with competitors, and strictly maintain costs (Bamiatzi & Kirchmaier, 2014). Bamiatzi and Kirchmaier demonstrated through analysis of 20 case studies how SMB owners could implement firm-specific strategies to overcome declining or volatile markets.

Research from Devece et al. (2016) indicated that innovation and opportunity recognition are success factors during periods of recession. Devece et al. identified the essential entrepreneurial characteristics and drivers of entrepreneurship that increase the likelihood of success for new businesses. Using data from Spain's recent economic cycle, consisting of the 2008 financial crisis and the economic boom before the crisis, Devece et al. revealed that innovation and opportunity recognition enhances sustainability more during periods of recession than periods of prosperity. Strong economies may misdirect an entrepreneur's opportunity recognition, as entrepreneurs may overestimate consumer behavior changes (Devece et al., 2016).

Entrepreneurial Activities and Behaviors

Possessing a high level of entrepreneurship initiative and innovation may assist business owners in maintaining sustainability. Researchers have identified and linked entrepreneurial activities and success in organizations. Entrepreneurship has a significant effect on economic renewal and change (Andersson & Henrekson, 2015). Increasing personal initiative can increase entrepreneurial success (Glaub et al., 2014). A 3-day personal initiative program conducted on 100 small business owners in Africa indicated

an increase in entrepreneurial mindset and an active approach toward entrepreneurial tasks (Glaub et al., 2014). Similar research indicated that corporate entrepreneurship (CE) could revitalize operations and build new competencies (Kearney & Meynhardt, 2016). Kearney and Meynhardt (2016) stated that the corporate entrepreneurship strategy (CES) model creates new public value and generating new economic activity. The CES model is significant in breaking down the organizational conditions that support entrepreneurial processes and behavior (Kearney & Meynhardt, 2016).

Local economies that do not support innovative entrepreneurship fall behind their global competitors (Andersson & Henrekson, 2015). Entrepreneurship self-efficacy and innovation activities positively impact restaurant performance (Lee et al., 2016). Lee et al. (2016) conducted a partial least squares structural equation model (PLS-SEM) analysis, discovering that developing new products and market opportunities have a substantial effect on restaurant performance. Contrary to similar entrepreneurship research, the PLS-SEM analysis indicated that business owner experience and entrepreneurship education did not significantly affect business performance (Lee et al., 2016). Similar research from Agarwal and Dahm (2015) indicated that entrepreneurship education did not significantly impact business success from 20 owners of successful ethnic restaurants. As a result, there is conflicting evidence between the effectiveness of experience, entrepreneurship education, and business success. Recent entrepreneurship research addressed entrepreneurship in first-world economies; however, there are

Effective Marketing

Business owners, managers, and entrepreneurs must understand the importance of marketing for maintaining long-term sustainability. Utilizing an 11-year longitudinal study, Lam and Harker (2015) studied the significance of marketing as an entrepreneurial activity at different business life stages. Business owners and entrepreneurs that are market-oriented achieve higher performance and are more successful (Jakada et al., 2014). Lam and Harker stated that entrepreneurship is neither ends-driven nor means-driven, but rather a consequence of the interaction between actors and social context. Lam and Harker remarked that entrepreneurs should maintain customer involvement in shaping marketing activities to best suit the customer's needs.

Marketing is an essential activity for entrepreneurs of both SMBs and large firms, even during constrained or volatile conditions. Kenny and Dyson (2016) posited that marketing is beneficial to small businesses, even if the business owner experiences resource constraints. Customers satisfied after patronizing a business may advertise the business through word of mouth at no cost to the business (Pandya et al., 2016).

Business owners may use collected data to analyze sales, pricing, and customer experience. Business owners that use real-time data to effectively market are less likely to fail (Wang et al., 2015). Kenny and Dyson (2016) provided an in-depth analysis of the benefits of marketing decisions, including product, pricing, distribution, and promotion. One of the more prominent marketing approaches in consumer industries is customer experience management (CEM) (Homburg et al., 2017). Unfortunately, there is confusion among researchers and practitioners regarding CEM's concept; however, Homburg et al.

(2017) developed a model to conceptualize CEM as a resource for integration, strategic directions, and firm capabilities of customer experiences. Understanding how to enhance a customer's experience may assist business owners with maintaining long-term sustainability. Homburg et al. posited that CEM could systemize and serve an evolving marketing concept.

There are multiple forms of marketing, including email, web, mobile, and social media (Westwood, 2019). Fong et al. (2015) indicated that mobile-based marketing targeted at customers close to a competitor's location could increase returns.

Additionally, over 49.3% of the top 10,000 websites contained links to Facebook (Mangal, 2013). Westwood (2019) created a step-by-step guide on how to write a marketing plan for business owners to boost product sales or business performance. This marketing plan guide includes how to conduct a marketing audit, set objectives, and maintain budgets for writing, presenting, and implementing the plan (Westwood, 2019). Westwood stated that many business owners are under time and resource constraints and do not have the time to develop complicated and ineffective marketing plans.

The market is ever-changing and can make conducting market research difficult (Babin & Zikmund, 2015). Babin and Zikmund (2015) stated that researchers must work together with decision-makers to uncover the current market needs, as many decision-makers are under intense pressure to make quick decisions. Small businesses rarely take the time to conduct a comprehensive review of business activities (Cook & Wolverton, 1995). Cook and Wolverton (1995) developed a quick and easy-to-use evaluation tool to measure strategic performance indicators (SPIs). Cook and Wolverton's tool is

significant as it not only provides an in-depth explanation of how these SPIs are essential, but it also provides a mechanism to measure the primary functions of a business: management, marketing, and finance.

O'Cass and Sok (2014) studied marketing capabilities, intellectual resources, reputational resources, and product innovation of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The findings of this study indicated that SMEs with high marketing capabilities, intellectual resources, reputational resources, and product innovation experience growth (O'Cass & Sok, 2014). O'Cass and Sok demonstrated that high levels of resources do not compensate for low levels of capabilities. Decision-makers should conduct market research to address information gaps that prevent the decision-maker from making the best possible decision (McQuarrie, 2015). McQuarrie posited that conducting marketing research is not always the best decision for the decision-maker, even for marketing decisions. Market research can be expensive; therefore, the effect must be large enough to justify the cost (McQuarrie, 2015).

Other researchers advocated the use of inexpensive marketing techniques to understand customer demographics better. Analyzing results from 129 smartphone users using latent class analysis, Hamka et al. (2014) discovered several clusters relating to the users' demographics, psychographics, and lifestyles. Hamka et al. posited that these clusters correlated with customer segmentation. Customer segmentation is useful for understanding what customers want and can help decision-makers project future market changes and create effective marketing campaigns (Hamka et al., 2014). Rubin (1999) advocated the similarly inexpensive Geographic Information System (GIS) in breaking

down data into customer demographics and other information. GIS enables small business owners to take advantage of the same data capabilities that were once the domain for large corporations (Rubin, 1999). Rubin provided a comprehensive breakdown for business owners to decide if GIS would support their business needs.

Davcik and Sharma (2015) suggested that marketing investment, brand equity, price, and product differentiation are closely related. After conducting a regression analysis on 735 fast-moving consumer goods, Davcik and Sharma discovered that premium prices had a significant association with product differentiation. As a result, research indicated a positive correlation between product differentiation and charging premium pricing.

Competition and Competitive Advantages

Both individual firms and regional areas must remain competitive to achieve long-term sustainability. Local competitiveness depends on the environment for entrepreneurship (Andersson & Henrekson, 2015). However, business competition presents dynamic challenges for entrepreneurs, managers, and executives, creating uncertainty, fear, and doubt (Fleisher & Bensoussan, 2015). Geographical regions that do not remain competitive and adapt to technological innovations experience declining prosperity (Andersson & Henrekson, 2015). Market saturation, resource scarcity, rapid information exchange, and constant technological innovation have increased competitive pressure on firms (Pivoda, 2016). Additionally, competition is constraining when many businesses sell similar products and services in the same market (Khosa & Kalitanyl, 2014). Pivoda recommended that business owners maintain a balance between quality

and price and conform to environmental standards. Maintaining competitive advantages will assist business owners in achieving long-term sustainability (Pivoda, 2016).

Fleisher and Bensoussan (2015) stated that decision-makers must conduct a competitive analysis to determine how to compete effectively and create more value for shareholders. Fleisher and Bensoussan provided an in-depth analysis and application method for effective competition, cash flow, benchmarking, and critical success factors. Similar research from Kirzner (2015) illustrated a comprehensive breakdown of competition, including monopolistic competition, competitive pricing, and the *wastes* of competition. Conducting a competitive analysis may be difficult for business owners that compete globally as market, labor costs, and customer demographic changes continually shift (Tate et al., 2015).

Small business owners must be aware of where customers are going and at what times. Mobile-based location check-in services may give business owners a competitive advantage in staffing and business operation decisions (Wang et al., 2015). Wang et al. (2015) stated that researching and understanding check-in data might help business owners achieve long-term sustainability. Online services provide small business owners with many of the same tools that larger corporations use, increasing competitive and marketing abilities.

Increasing web technologies and competition have forced SMEs to develop or enhance their online business presence (Otero, et al., 2014). Otero et al. (2014) assisted business owners with increasing online visibility with in-depth information on the required tools, including backlinks, infomediaries, and other mechanics. Similar research

from Visser and Weideman (2014) indicated a need for high rankings on search engines on multiple keywords or phrases. Visser and Weideman stated that in addition to high visibility, websites must provide users with easy navigation, interaction, and transactional ability. Providing a better shopping experience can increase customer satisfaction and sales volume (Yazdanifard & Li, 2014). To test the impact of search engine optimization and website usability, Visser and Weideman developed multiple websites and measured the conversions and financial spending on each site. The findings of this study highlighted the complementary and contradictory elements of search engine optimization and usability, which can assist business owners who rely on online visibility (Visser & Weideman, 2014).

Business owners can leverage online commerce businesses such as Alibaba to compete more effectively with larger firms (Yazdanifard & Li, 2014). Supply chain management (SCM) improves competitiveness by integrating organizational units and coordinating material, information, and financial flows to meet customer needs (Kilger, 2005). Kilger (2005) provided a comprehensive definition and analysis of SCM, including the implications for business performance and competitiveness. SCM failure reasons include overvaluation of information technology, poor alignment between SCM and supply chain strategy, and an ineffective organizational and management culture (Kilger, 2005).

Research indicated that competitive advertising might increase returns for small business owners. Focusing on customers that are physically near the business location may result in cannibalizing profits (Fong et al., 2015). However, Fong et al. stated that

business owners who promoted their business near competitors' locations rather than focal location targeting saw an increase in returns. The findings of this study are significant as many small business owners may be financially constrained and cannot afford mass advertising methods.

Small business owners may obtain a sustainable competitive advantage through product or process innovations (Palmer et al., 2001). However, Palmer et al. (2001) stated that these innovations are risky and depend on the firm having an effective business strategy and appropriate market conditions. Palmer et al. provided a framework that assists business owners with evaluating possible environmental and business strategy effects on the success of product and process innovations. Therefore, business owners may create a competitive analysis, enhance their online presence, streamline SCM, and maintain innovation to maintain long-term sustainability.

Customer relationship building is essential for both increasing brand loyalty and gaining a competitive advantage. Business owners may create competitive advantages through building relationships with customers (Peppers & Rogers, 2016). Peppers and Rogers (2016) stated that customers that build a relationship with one business would incur a loss if deciding to patronize a competitor. Current research similarly indicated a necessity for small and large firms to compete, even in monopolistic competition.

Ideal Business Location

Many small business owners may consider obtaining the ideal business location a critical factor for achieving long-term sustainability. Business owners and researchers have assumed that business location is the primary reason for SMB failure (Self et al.,

2015). However, many entrepreneurs stated that they discovered their business location by chance rather than conducting a systematic search (Berg, 2010). Additionally, Berg (2010) provided evidence from entrepreneurs that choosing a business location was about satisficing rather than optimization. Other factors that may present entrepreneurs' difficulties when selecting a business location include high rent and crime (Khosa & Kalitanyl, 2014). Consequently, research indicated that avoiding high rent and crime and satisfying business needs drive the business location decision rather than systematically choosing a location for optimization.

Andersson and Henrekson (2015) recommended that business owners choose geographic locations that respond to technological, innovation, and globalization changes. Cities that do not respond to technological, innovation, and globalization changes are susceptible to rapid declines in prosperity, job growth, and population, which may negatively affect business performance and sustainability (Andersson & Henrekson, 2015). Additionally, Tate et al. (2014) indicated that small business owners must carefully consider factors including (a) currency valuation, (b) customer location, (c) tendency for natural disasters, and (d) transportation costs when choosing the business location. As a result, research indicated that business owners should select locations that are responsive to technological, innovation, and globalization changes, close to target customer locations, low in natural disasters, favorable in currency valuation, and maintain low transportation costs.

Traditional research focuses on the amount of consumer traffic that a business receives compared to local competitors (Wang et al., 2015). Indeed, collected data from

Foursquare, a location-based service provider, indicated a strong relationship between business failure and traffic data of focal locations and local competitors (Wang et al., 2015). However, not obtaining an ideal business location may not impede performance if the business owner is effectively competing with local competitors (Fong et al., 2015). Instead, Fong et al. recommended ensuring effective competition and marketing to consumers that are closer to competitor locations rather than focal locations.

Customer Satisfaction and Engagement

Obtaining and retaining customers is every business owner's goal (Peppers & Rogers, 2016). Customer engagement is essential for promoting brand loyalty and trust (So et al., 2016). However, foreign and minority business owners may experience difficulties in maintaining sustainability due to cultural and language differences with customers. Khosa and Kalitanyl (2014) noted that xenophobia, although not typically widespread, can be detrimental to business performance. Additionally, business owners that do not speak the same language as the locals may inhibit business performance (Khosa & Kalitanyl, 2014). Research indicated that business owners can strengthen customer loyalty through engaging beyond the service counters (So et al., 2016).

Multiple variables may enhance customer satisfaction. Factors that determine customer satisfaction include (a) appropriate behavior from employees, (b) friendly and comforting atmosphere, (c) knowledgeable employees, and (d) timely service (Pandya et al., 2016). Promoting restaurant staff's positive mannerisms increases customer satisfaction (Sweeney, Armstrong, and Johnson, 2016; Alhelalat et al., 2017). Restaurant owners must strive for high customer satisfaction levels as they operate in highly

competitive environments (Kukanja et al., 2017). Building relationships with customers can help business owners recognize opportunities (Shu et al., 2018). Research indicated that higher customer satisfaction and building customer relationships may assist business owners with maintaining a competitive advantage and increasing sales.

Rather than environmental sustainability, socio-economic issues have dominated academics' interests regarding product-service systems (Chou et al., 2015). Chou et al. (2015) developed a sustainable product-service efficiency concept to compare product-service value and sustainability impact. Chou et al. stated that life cycles are no longer the only metric to measure product-service systems; product-service quality, customer satisfaction, and full sustainability are now concerns that require evaluation. Customers that are not satisfied after patronizing a business are less likely to return (Pandya et al., 2016). Business owners can measure customer satisfaction and experiences through a variety of tools. A popular method for measuring customer satisfaction is the net promoter score, a tool that gauges customer's experience with both the employees and product or service (Spiess et al., 2014). Therefore, research indicated that product-service quality, measuring and maintaining customer satisfaction, and full sustainability can increase product-service systems' performance for business owners.

Maintaining organizational capability is critical in generating higher revenues and customer satisfaction (Lun et al., 2016). Using empirical data collected from intermodal transporter operators in Taiwan, Lun et al. (2016) discovered a positive correlation between organizational capability and customer satisfaction. Lun et al. (2016) stated that profitability mediates the relationship between organizational capability and customer

satisfaction. As such, research indicated a positive correlation between organizational capability, customer satisfaction, and higher revenues. Effective leadership and management may also increase organizational capability, customer satisfaction, and revenues.

Effective Leadership and Management

There are many definitions and concepts of what constitutes effective leadership. Effective leadership often does not have a systematic explanation or identification process (Johnston & Marshall, 2016). Johnston and Marshall (2016) stated that recent leadership approaches have taken on near mystic qualities. Similar research from Northouse (2015) confirmed the confusion regarding effective leadership and indicated that leadership is a complex process having multiple dimensions. Research studies indicated central concepts of what defines leadership, (a) leadership involves common goals, (b) leadership involves influence, (c) leadership is a process, and (d) leadership is group-based (Northouse, 2015).

Researchers at Stanford University Stanford rated technical leadership qualities such as a high IQ lower than soft skills such as self-awareness (Showry & Manasa, 2014). Analysis of three types of public service leaders' skills indicated that 75% of effective leadership related to soft skills (Xavier, 2014). Showry and Manasa explored the relationship between self-awareness, self-ignorance, self-actualization, and leadership effectiveness and discovered that leaders with high levels of self-awareness better navigated business complexities. This relationship contrasts with Seelhofer and Valeri's (2017) research indicating that experience and detail-orientation are better indicators for

effective leadership. Thus, research indicated that self-awareness, experience, and detailorientation may all contribute to effective leadership.

Leaders face many unique challenges when making decisions and developing an implementation strategy (Johnston & Marshall, 2016). Johnston and Marshall (2016) indicated that diverse employees might present challenges for leaders during the decision-making process. Cultural, legal, and behavioral environmental differences may impede leadership decision-making if the leader does not possess the required knowledge and training (Johnston & Marshall, 2016). Leaders that face difficulties when managing diverse employees and multiple environmental differences may find that developing leadership skills will increase performance and effectiveness.

Firms may experience inhibited or enhanced growth after leadership changes. Small firms with resource constraints may experience challenges in maintaining long-term sustainability when changing leadership. Desai et al. (2015) studied the effects of leader succession and prior leader experience on post succession organizational performance. The findings of this study are twofold. First, the results indicated that leaders that transition between leadership positions are associated with higher performance, while leaders that depart to another organization had adverse effects on post succession performance (Desai et al., 2015). Second, leaders with domestic top leader experience had a negative impact on performance, while foreign senior leader experience had a positive effect on performance (Desai et al., 2015). These findings are significant as they may represent and identify conditions of leadership changes that will affect business performance.

Leadership styles may correlate with increased product innovation within small businesses. Dunne et al. (2016) studied the link between leadership and innovation within small businesses. The responses collected for the study indicated that leadership style, negotiation style, and organizational efficacy affect product innovation (Dunne et al., 2016). Dunne et al. (2016) discovered evidence that small business leaders who are inspirational, negotiate competitively, and lead productive organizations create environments more likely to yield product innovations.

Effective communication of business strategies between leaders and employees may be difficult. Leaders may have difficulty communicating business strategies and goals with employees (Rosalin et al., 2016). Conducting interviews on leaders and employees, Rosalin et al. (2016) observed that communication between leaders and employees is mostly related to tactics. Leaders may also face communication difficulties when persuading employees to change policies and procedures (Delmatoff & Lazarus, 2014). Women and minorities may face even more significant difficulties when speaking in group settings or speaking in authoritative roles (Baxter, 2016). Collected interview data from family business owners and employees indicated that many small restaurant owners might lack the necessary skills needed for effective communication, causing high failure rates (Rosalin et al., 2016). As a result, research indicated that communication between leaders and employees might be difficult and limited due to a lack of effective communication skills, resulting in higher failure rates.

Bamiatzi et al. (2015) analyzed the link between personal competencies and leadership styles, particularly among female business owners. The findings of this study

indicated that transformational leadership is a dominant leadership style among female small business owners, and this leadership style linked to both the personal and entrepreneurial competencies of the individual (Bamiatzi et al., 2015). As a result, female business owners may be most effective in transformational leadership positions, as this leadership style complements their personal and entrepreneurial competencies.

Booth (2015) examined the traditional approach used by firms when facing a significant change or crisis. Effective leadership is vital to handling crises, risk, and uncertainty, both internally and externally (Booth, 2015). Some theories may oversimplify the causes and solutions of crises, as many theories overlook each firm's individuality and environment (Booth, 2015). Accordingly, firms may handle crises, risk, and uncertainty more effectively by analyzing their unique needs and effective leadership.

Predicting Business Success and Failure

Understanding success and failure rates may help business owners make policy decisions, as statistics may be misleading (Healy & Mac Con Iomaire, 2019). Healy and Mac Con Iomaire (2019) indicated that financial institutions might use invalid or deceptive data when predicting business failure, impacting business growth and long-term sustainability. Lussier and Halabi (2010) conducted testing in the United States, Croatia, and Chili using the Lussier 15-variable business success versus failure prediction model to test which variables lead to business success. Lussier and Halabi included 234 small businesses as the sample: 131 failed businesses and 103 successful businesses. Lussier and Halabi discovered that the Lussier 15-variable model could successfully

predict business failure or success more accurately than randomly guessing over 96% of the time. Similar research from Hyder and Lussier (2016) indicated that the Lussier 15-variable model is useful for investors and financial institutions in providing funds to small business owners. Thus, business owners that use the Lussier 15-variable model can more accurately make policy decisions that impact business growth and long-term sustainability.

Entrepreneurial activities alone, including identifying new products, processes, or markets, do not have a significant relationship with successful new venture foundations (Honig & Hopp, 2016). Pre-startup experiences, venture characteristics, and the institutional environment positively correlate with successful performance (Honig & Hopp, 2016). Choosing successful strategies, understanding the business model's implications, and developing or evolving viable operational systems are critical factors for success and require analysis (Aithal, 2016). Aithal (2016) discussed how to use the ABCD model on a business model, business strategy, or business system. The ABCD model helps entrepreneurs choose the appropriate business model and business strategy, similar to other analyzing techniques like Porter's Five Forces, SWOC, and PESTLE analysis (Aithal, 2016).

Small Business Sustainability Challenges

Small business owners face several sustainability challenges in maintaining long-term sustainability. Even though sustainability is a mainstream issue, only a limited number of studies exist on integrating sustainability into daily practices (Parisi, 2013).

Sustainability challenges may link to the condition of smallness, a conceptualized idea

that reflects a lack of knowledge, time, and capability and inhibits growth (Anderson & Ullah, 2014). Research on small business sustainability indicated strong relationships between financial restrictions, financial expertise, and business failure.

Financial Constraints

Financial constraints and restrictions may inhibit small business owners from growing and maintaining long-term sustainability. Business owners, especially minorities, face difficulties obtaining start-up and growth funding (Khosa & Kalitanyl, 2014). Financial crises may also restrict financing and investment activity and internal and external financing for small business owners (Achleitner et al., 2016). However, the results of collected data from two successful and two failed businesses indicated that non-financial factors, including manager's involvement in organizational strategy, occurred prior to financial factors (Purves et al., 2015). Purves et al. (2015) studied the relationship between non-financial factors and financial factors of failure using mixed methods exploratory case studies and discovered that the non-financial factors impacted the success or failure rate. Small business owners who can identify early warning signs of financial failure may realign failing processes, assisting with long-term sustainability.

Using a financial knowledge instrument containing 23 financial literacy questions, Para (2016) conducted surveys on small business owners. Results from the study indicated a high financial literacy among small business owners and strong relationships associated with gender, age, and education (Para, 2016). Older, educated, male small business owners scored higher than younger, lesser educated, and female counterparts (Para, 2016). The findings of this study are significant in understanding the financial

literacy gaps among different groups of small business owners, which may contribute to higher failure rates.

There are many knowledge gaps between the relationship of access to external finance and growth (Fraser et al., 2015). These knowledge gaps are due in part to the current limitations to test financial constraints (Fraser et al., 2015). Fraser et al. (2015) recommended (a) further research to expand current knowledge and address the gaps in understanding, (b) scrutiny in the traditional view that funding gaps and business performance are directly responsible for identifying financial constraints, and (c) to explore the relationship between non-bank sources and growth. Hyder and Lussier (2016) recommended that financial institutions and investors use the Lussier 15-variable business success versus failure prediction model when determining funding for small business owners.

Traditional research indicated that financial resources are more important to small business owners, without considering other types of resources. Greene et al. (1997) argued that human, social, organizational, physical, and financial resources are critical for small businesses. Conducting an exploratory study of 76 small businesses, Green et al. discovered that physical and organizational resources rank higher than financial resources. This research is significant as resource constraint is commonly associated with business failure without providing a distinct resource type.

Transition

Section 1, titled the Foundation of the Study, included the background of the problem, the problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, research

question, and interview questions. This section also included specific information about the conceptual framework, operational definitions, and the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study. I then detailed the study's significance, including the contributions to business practice and the implications for social change. Section 1 concluded with an expounding upon the existing body of literature, highlighting the necessity for small business owners to (a) employ effective marketing, (b) create a competitive advantage, and (c) ensure customer satisfaction.

Section 2 begins with a restatement of the purpose of the study and an explanation of the role of the researcher, participants, and research method and design. An explanation of the population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization technique, and data analysis follows. Section 2 concludes with a discussion of methods for ensuring reliability and validity. Section 3 includes a presentation of the study findings and a discussion of the recommendations for further research. A thorough detail of the applications of study findings to professional practice and social change follows. Section 3 concludes with a final reflection and conclusions from the conduct of this study.

Section 2: The Project

The focus of Section 2 is on the processes and techniques that I used to collect data to explore the specific business problem. Section 2 begins with a reiteration of the purpose statement and a description of my role as the researcher. In this study, I aimed to expand the amount of information available to small restaurant owners seeking to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Section 2 also contains participant information, the research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research practices, data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization technique, data analysis, and the reliability and validity information. Section 2 concludes with a summary and transition to Section 3 of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The targeted population consisted of owners of three small restaurants in Washington County, Tennessee, who developed successful strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 3 years. The implications for social change included small restaurant owners' potential to learn strategies useful for sustaining their businesses beyond 3 years. These strategies can reduce employee turnover and unemployment levels and positively affect their communities by contributing to increased local spending and economic growth.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in a qualitative case study involves data collection through participant engagement (Yin, 2018). Listening, learning, and developing an

emphatic relationship are essential to effectively and efficiently fulfilling the role of the researcher (Berry, 2016). Qualitative researchers collect data in familiar settings for participants to maintain the context of the participant's information and experiences (Yin, 2018). Common themes emerged after the analysis of the data. Triangulation of themes provided summarized strategies and benefits from effective management. As the researcher, I found and recruited qualified participants, conducted face-to-face interviews, and analyzed and interpreted the data collected.

A strong relationship between the researcher and the research topic is crucial in understanding and interpreting the participants' reactions to interview questions (Yin, 2018). Familiarity with both the research topic and the participants increases the efficiency and effectiveness of the data collection process (Berry, 2016). The experience I gained from assisting friends with opening various small businesses over the past 12 years gave me a greater understanding of small business sustainability. As a native to the east Tennessee region for over 30 years, I was very familiar with the location and the residing businesses. My knowledge and experience have provided me a unique understanding of the critical factors involved in opening a sustainable small business in this region.

The Belmont Report outlines the standard of ethics on participant treatment (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). There are three major principles included in the Belmont Report: (a) respect for persons involves, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice. I followed each of these ethical principles in conducting my research and maintaining information security.

The researcher has a responsibility for preventing bias (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To reduce bias, I acknowledged any self-identified biases, conducted member checking, followed identical protocols for all participants and interviews, and ensured data saturation. I also ensured that I had no prior associations with the participants.

Avoiding personal assumptions will increase the reliability of the data (Yin, 2018).

Yin (2018) stated that an interview protocol provides a script for the researcher to conduct the interview and record the interaction. Conducting a semi-formal interview instead of a casual conversation will increase the focus and alignment of the interview (Yin, 2018). The interview protocol included interview questions that prevented deviations from the topic and provided organization throughout the interview (Appendix). Accordingly, I followed a structured interview protocol to maintain focus and alignment throughout the interviews.

Participants

Established criteria determined the participants of this qualitative multiple case study. Yin (2018) stated that establishing criteria for participants reduces the risk of invalid or incredible data collection. Researchers must then use their judgment to select participants based on the eligibility criteria (Bernard et al., 2016). I followed Yin's and Bernard et al.'s (2016) advice by establishing specific criteria to ensure validity and credibility. The criteria for this study included (a) owning a small restaurant located in Washington County, TN, (b) achieving sustainability of a small restaurant beyond 3 years, and (c) owning a small restaurant that consists of less than 500 employees.

To obtain participants for the study, I conducted internet searches through search engines such as Yelp, Google, Facebook, LinkedIn, and YP. After discovering participants for the study, I sent out a letter of invitation to explain the purpose of the study and seek their participation. After gaining enough participants for the study, I began the interview process and obtained a verbal agreement from each participant that they met the eligibility criteria of the study.

Establishing a trust-based relationship is critical to gaining participants for the study and ensuring valid and credible data collection (Yin, 2018). Jack et al. (2016) stated that establishing a trust-based relationship with participants reduces the risk of participants withholding information. A trust-based relationship with participants demonstrates a higher level of competence and quality (Yin, 2018). To foster a trust-based relationship with participants, I thoroughly explained the purpose of the study, answered any questions the participants had, and assured participants of their confidentiality and rights. Eligible participants that agreed to the interview process signed a consent form affirming their voluntary agreement to participate.

Research Method and Design

The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Researchers must choose the research method and design that best addresses the problem of their study (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) stated that researchers use the qualitative research method to ensure an in-depth exploration of a phenomenon. I followed Yin's guidance and provided an in-depth exploration of the problem in this research study using a qualitative multiple case study.

Research Method

For this study, I chose a qualitative multiple case study to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Qualitative research methods enable researchers to explore a phenomenon in a social context (Yin, 2018). I confirmed this research method's appropriateness for this study by reviewing several other similar small business research studies. A qualitative research method was appropriate for this study to (a) conduct face-to-face interviews with participants, (b) analyze and interpret the verbal and nonverbal communication from participants, and (c) allow participants to use their own words to provide descriptive data for the study. Yin (2018) stated that using a qualitative method will enable participants to express their experiences and perceptions of the research topic in their own words. I followed a qualitative method to understand small restaurant owners' experiences and perceptions that have ensured sustainability beyond 3 years.

Researchers use quantitative methods to identify and analyze variables to assess significance or causal relationships (Yin, 2018). I did not use a quantitative research method as my study did not involve measuring the causal relationship between variables. The mixed-method research method is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research methods (Yin, 2018). My study did not require statistical analysis or measurement of variables to test a hypothesis; therefore, a mixed method approach was not suitable. A qualitative research method was most appropriate for this study as face-to-face interviews and interactions provided valid, credible, and reliable data for studying the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Research Design

The research design for this study was a multiple case study. Yin (2018) stated that a case study answers what, why, and how questions. I used a case study design to collect high-quality data from a sufficient number of participants to strengthen the reliability of the findings and ensured no new data or themes, as indicated by Yin. The case study design enables researchers to use triangulation for data collection, combining face-to-face interviews, publicly available data, and internal financial documents to ensure reliability and validity. A case study design was appropriate for this study as I collected high-quality data to answer what, why, and how questions regarding the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Other qualitative research designs include phenomenological, ethnographic, and narrative research (Yin, 2018). Phenomenological research involves interpreting the participants' lived experiences regarding a specific situation (Doody & Bailey, 2016). A phenomenological research design was not appropriate for this study as lived experiences did not answer the research question of what strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Researchers use ethnography to research the culture, cultural behavior, and cultural activities of a specific group (Yin, 2018). Ethnographic research was not appropriate for this study as I did not seek to explore small restaurant owners' cultural aspects and behaviors. Yin (2018) stated that narrative research enables research exploration of real-life experiences through the participants' stories. Narrative research was not appropriate for my study, as I did not seek to explore the real-life experiences that influence small restaurant owners.

Researchers use a case study design to explore individuals or events through multiple data collection methods (Yin, 2018). Case studies may be (a) single, (b) multiple, (c) exploratory, or (d) explanatory (Yin, 2018). I chose the research design that best suited the topic of the study, as Yin (2018) recommended. A multiple case study was best suited for my research study as I explored multiple small restaurant owners' strategies. In this study, I conducted semistructured interviews, reviewed internal documents, and analyzed public records to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Population and Sampling

Many researchers studying the strategies that small businesses use for sustainability use purposive sampling. Researchers that use purposive sampling maintain a balance between time and other resources and achieving data saturation (Iqbal et al., 2017). The purposive sampling participants must be well informed and experienced with the phenomenon (Iqbal et al., 2017). Purposive sampling is an efficient method of collecting data from a small group of participants accurately representing a larger population (Bernard et al., 2016). I used purposive sampling to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Yin (2018) stated that the standard sample size does not apply to qualitative multiple case study designs. Researchers should aim to attain data saturation when choosing the sample size (Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers should choose a sample size that is small enough to manage effectively yet provides an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Three to five participants are optimal for

limited scope case studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A sample size that is too high costs the researcher time and other resources and is impractical (Boddy, 2016). Based on prior successful research, I chose three small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, that had achieved sustainability beyond 3 years.

Researchers should continue to collect data until reaching data saturation (Yin, 2018). Achieving data saturation alerts the researcher to discontinue collecting data, as the researcher can gather no new information (Noohi et al., 2016). I used data saturation to signify that no new information will come from interviewing participants. To accurately identify data saturation, I transcribed each participant interview, conducted member checking, and ensured that no new themes emerged before discontinuing data collection. I achieved data saturation with the three initial participants and did not require interviewing additional participants.

Researchers can avoid incredible and invalid data collection by establishing eligibility criteria (Yin, 2018). I established eligibility criteria to ensure that each participant possesses the knowledge and skills needed to accurately identify what strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The eligibility criteria I used for this study were (a) successful small restaurant owners located in Washington County, TN, (b) small restaurant owners that had achieved sustainability beyond 3 years, and (c) small restaurant owners that had less than 500 employees.

I conducted each interview in a convenient and comfortable setting for the participant to promote trust and open dialogue. Participants will experience fewer distractions and share more information when they are comfortable and have scheduled a

convenient time for the interview (Wilson et al., 2016). Researchers use between 30 and 60 minutes to gather information from participants during semistructured face-to-face interviews (Theodore-Oklata et al., 2016). I allowed each participant to set a convenient time for the interview and set a maximum time limit of 45 minutes for each interview to ensure that the participant did not feel overly burdened by their participation.

Ethical Research

Providing informed consent is the first step to ethical research. When a participant gives informed consent, they acknowledge and grant voluntary permission to participate in the research study (Dal-Ré et al., 2017). Informed consent enhances the participant's comprehension level of the research study procedures and is an ethical and legal process (Spatz et al., 2016). After obtaining approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (approval number 08-19-20-0752524), I ensured that each participant received an informed consent form that identified the purpose of the study and the role of the participant and the researcher. An informed consent form also explains the confidentiality and privacy rights of the participant. I used the informed consent form provided by Walden University as an ethical guide for the research study. Participants had the option to withdraw from their participation in the study at any time in person, by phone, or through email correspondence.

Yin (2018) stated that protecting participants' rights and privacy involves a high safety and security level in the data collection, data storage, and data analysis processes. I did not expose the participant's name or business name in the study; instead, I used a coding system that labeled the participants from P1 to P3, where *P* refers to the

participant. I only used the collected data from the participants for the intended scope of the study. All data collected, including written, recorded, and electronic data, will remain in a fireproof safe for 5 years to protect the participants' confidentiality and privacy. To maintain safety and privacy, I will use paper shredding to destroy all paper documents after 5 years. Maintaining and adhering to a protocol can enhance the trustworthiness of the research (Amankwaa, 2016). I adhered to a stringent safety and privacy protocol with the participants and expected each participant to reciprocate to promote trustworthiness and ethical behavior.

Data Collection Instruments

In a qualitative research study, the researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Yin, 2018). The more common methods of data collection are (a) interviews, (b) observations, (c) artifacts, and (d) archived documents (Yin, 2018). The researcher acts as the data collection instrument through observing, interpreting, and recording the collected data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). As the data collection instrument, I gathered data from semistructured interviews, archived documents, and publicly available information on local and government websites. In qualitative research, data triangulation enhances understanding of the phenomenon (Varpio et al., 2017). As the data collection instrument, I used data triangulation, including interviews, observations, and archived documents, to enhance the findings' reliability, validity, and credibility.

During the interviews with the participants, seven interview questions guided the meeting explicitly addressing the research topic. Researchers should use face-to-face interviews and audio record interviews for data collection (Moloczij et al., 2017).

Researchers can experience the participant's contextual environment during face-to-face interviews (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) stated that interview protocols assist researchers in maintaining focus during the interview. Interview protocols provide a step-by-step process for the interviewer to maximize the amount of information that participants can recall from memory (Yin, 2018). Therefore, I used an interview protocol to avoid deviation from the research topic (see Appendix).

Member checking after the interview is vital to ensuring the research study's validity, reliability, and credibility. Member checking after semistructured interviews can enhance the research study's reliability and validity (Birt et al., 2016; Yin, 2018).

Member checking involves gaining confirmation from the participant that the interpretation of their responses is what they intended to say (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In addition to member checking, data triangulation assisted in ensuring the validity of the collected data. Data triangulation is the process of using different sources, such as company documents, to ensure the validity of the study (Varpio et al., 2017). I intended to review financial documents to triangulate the data collected, however, participants did not retain many financial documents supporting their responses.

Data Collection Technique

Yin (2018) identified data collection as the process of gathering information from the participants of a study to understand a phenomenon. Data collection for a case study should come from multiple sources, including questionnaires, focus groups, documents, observations, and interviews (Birt et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). After the initial contact, each participant set a date, time, and place convenient to them for participating in the

phone interview. An advantage of semistructured interviews is that researchers can better understand the participant's responses by asking open-ended questions (Brown & Danaher, 2019). Following these researchers' recommendations, the data collection technique for this study was semistructured interviews, a review of financial documents to validate strategy implementation, and a review of public and government websites. I followed the interview protocol, including (a) contacting potential participants by phone, email, and social media, (b) setting up over the phone and in-person interviews at an agreed-upon time, (c) reiterating the purpose of the research study, obtaining verbal consent from the participant, and providing a written consent form to the participant, (d) advising the participant that the interview will be recorded and beginning the interview, and (e) asking the participant six interview questions regarding the strategies the owner use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years (Appendix).

Interviews are the dominant method of data collection in qualitative research studies (Yin, 2018). Researchers may ask open-ended questions in interviews that encourage the participant to share their thoughts and experiences of a topic (Kristin, 2016). Bailey and Bailey (2017) stated that face-to-face interviews promote rapport establishment, trust-building, and developing mutual respect between the researcher and the participant. Poor memory recollection and providing answers that the participant believes the researcher wants to hear are disadvantages to collecting data through interviews (Yin, 2018). As a result, I followed Bailey and Bailey's (2017) guidance and used face-to-face interviews to build rapport, trust, and respect with the participants.

Member checking followed the interviews and data triangulation to ensure the accuracy and validity of the data. Thomas (2017) stated that member checking is an appropriate method for ensuring interview interpretation accuracy. Each participant received an interpretation of the collected data from the interview and a request that they review it for accuracy and validity. I ensured that all participants had an appropriate amount of time to review the interpretation and provide feedback or corrections if necessary.

Data Organization Technique

Proper data organization helps maintain accuracy in analyzing, reviewing, and reporting collected data (Yin, 2018). A handheld recorder and handwritten notes assisted in data organization while conducting the interview. Each participant and the data collected had a label of P1, P2, and P3 to further assist with data organization. Data storage, data categorization, and data cleaning are forms of data organization techniques (Paulus & Bennett, 2017). Researchers use software to categorize and analyze data collected to identify themes (Male, 2016). A benefit of data organization is creating an audit trail, which allows a researcher to cross-reference different sources of data (Yin, 2018).

The data storage techniques followed the recommendations and guidance of Walden University's IRB. The IRB requirements included securely storing the collected data for 5 years and destroying all collected data through deletion and paper shredding after 5 years. I am the only person who had access to the participant's data throughout the

5-year retaining period. I enabled password protection on the master file to ensure the privacy and safety of participant data.

Data Analysis

Empirical thinking is critical to data analysis of case study evidence (Yin, 2018). Researchers identify patterns to interpret the participants' responses regarding a problem or issue (Yin, 2018). Researchers can process collected data by using data analysis techniques (Guo & Guo, 2016). As this research incorporated a case study approach, I employed methodological triangulation to perform the data analysis. Triangulation increases a research study's validity and credibility by using multiple data sources (Varpio et al., 2017). Conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews, analyzing public and private documents, and watching for nonverbal cues are forms of triangulation (Vallon & Grechenig, 2016). As such, I followed these recommendations and conducted a thorough review of business documents to support the interview data.

Yin (2018) stated that compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding are elements of data analysis. Manual hand-coding and inputting the data into the NVivo software program ensured proper and accurate analysis. NVivo assists researchers with coding, categorization, and data analysis (Woods et al., 2016) and by reducing the time cost element of the data analysis (Boddy, 2016). Therefore, the purchase and use of the NVivo software combined with hand-coding helped identify the emerging themes from the collected data and enhanced the study's credibility and validity. After hand-coding and using NVivo to analyze the data, I checked for accuracy and redundancies and discovered the emerging themes from the collected data.

Researchers use coding to identify emerging themes from the collected data (Yin, 2018). Using coding to identify themes enables a researcher to reach data saturation, thereby enhancing the study's credibility, validity, and reliability (Yin, 2018). The coding of collected data should continue until achieving data saturation and resolving any discrepancies (Nelson, 2016). Researchers can form interpretations and conclusions of the collected data after organizing, categorizing, and reassembling the data into sequences and groups (Yin, 2018). As themes emerged, so did an increased knowledge of what strategies successful small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years.

Ensuring that the themes align with the study's purpose can help researchers avoid deviation (Bogers et al., 2017). A thematic analysis approach can help researchers identify, report, and focus on the key themes of a study (Padgett, 2016). Using a thematic analysis approach can help researchers make an analytical clarification (Vaismoradi et al., 2016). As a result, I used a thematic analysis approach in conjunction with hand-coding and the NVivo software to ensure a correlation between the study's themes, literature, and the conceptual framework.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity signify the accuracy and exactness of a study (Yin, 2018). Reliability involves ensuring the data's accuracy and inclusiveness and that repeat trials yield the same results (Fikkers et al., 2017). Validity means that the measured data reflects the intended concept (Fikkers et al., 2017). Researchers using a qualitative case study design ensure reliability and validity to ensure the accuracy of the findings (Yin,

2018). Reliability and validity correlate with the use of dependability, consistency, and repeatability (Jedrzejczak & Anders, 2017). Qualitative researchers view reliability as an attribute of dependability and must maintain dependability for peers and researchers to deem the research trustworthy (Jedrzejczak & Anders, 2017). As such, I enhanced the study's reliability and validity through member checking and data triangulation.

Reliability

In qualitative research, reliability refers to how a researcher has addressed the study's dependability (Bailey & Bailey, 2017; Hancock et al., 2016). Reliability ensures consistency within the research findings (Yin, 2018). Member checking and triangulation ensured the dependability of this research study. Member checking involves performing the interview, recording the data, confirming the interpretation of the data with the participant, and validating the themes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). After completing the interviews' interpretation, participants had an opportunity to give feedback on the interpreted data and provide necessary corrections.

Triangulation involves using multiple data sources and may broaden the understanding of the research topic (Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers can use multiple data sources to support the interview data and enhance the study's reliability (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Therefore, I ensured this study's reliability by using multiple data sources, including face-to-face interviews, publicly available data, and internal documents.

Validity

Qualitative researchers enhance the quality of the findings by ensuring the research study's validity and data saturation (Yin, 2018). Selecting the appropriate tools,

processes, data collection techniques, and research method and design can ensure a research study's validity and data saturation (Yin, 2018). Insufficient knowledge, biased knowledge, and lack of validity are threats to a research study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Ensuring credibility, transferability, and confirmability can enhance the qualitative research study's validity and trustworthiness (Plummer, 2017). Researchers should conduct member checking before analyzing the data (Thomas, 2017). Accordingly, I used member checking and triangulation to (a) ensure data saturation, (b) ensure validity, (c) increase trustworthiness, and (d) mitigate bias throughout this study.

Credibility enhances the integrity and trustworthiness of a research study (Yin, 2018). Credibility involves scrutinizing the findings from the collected data to ensure accuracy (Birt et al., 2016). Ensuring data saturation through including a sufficient number of participants also increases the research study's credibility (Yin, 2018). Methods for ensuring research study credibility include plausible criteria, valid evidence (Hays et al., 2016), engagement, documenting observations techniques, member checking, and data triangulation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). I followed these researchers' guidance and used member checking and data triangulation to ensure this study's credibility and accuracy.

Transferability refers to how the findings of a study are transferable to different environments. Researchers can enhance transferability by detailing the data collection process in depth so that readers can apply the findings to their situation or environment (Saab et al., 2017). I included detailed information regarding the data collection process,

the context of the study, and the findings of the study for readers to transfer the study findings over to their environment and setting.

Confirmability is the degree that others can confirm or support the findings of a research study (Amankwaa, 2016). Researchers can ensure confirmability by not including biased opinions and perceptions in the research study, instead objectively focusing on the participant's responses (Kallio et al., 2016). Researchers that analyze participant responses using observation techniques must remain cognizant of potential bias (Floman et al., 2017). I used multiple data sources, including data collected from interviews, publicly available data, and internal documents, to ensure confirmability by providing non-biased support to the findings of this study.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The three sections of this study include (a) the foundation of the study, (b) the project, and (c) the application to professional practice and implications for change. Section 1 contained the business problem and the need for finding a solution supported by recent peer-reviewed literature. Section 2 began with the breakdowns of the (a) role of the researcher, (b) participant criteria, (c) research method and design, (d) participation population and selection, and (e) ethical research. Section 2 then transitioned into the study's data element and contained the data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and the study's reliability and validity.

Section 3 contains the presentation of the findings as it relates to the research question. In addition to the results, Section 3 contains the themes discovered through data analysis. A discussion of social change implications and recommendations for action based on the findings of the study follows. Finally, Section 3 transitions into the data-driven suggestions for further research and a personal reflection of the study. Section 3 concludes with a summary and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The findings resulted from interviews conducted with three small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, and an analysis of publicly available data. After using methodological triangulation on the collected data, I identified four primary themes and several related themes related to the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years: (a) customer service and relationships, (b) product quality and consistency, (c) promotion and marketing, and (d) experience. I provided a comprehensive analysis of the primary and related themes regarding strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability in the presentation of the findings.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question that guides this study was: What strategies do small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years? I conducted semistructured interviews using the interview protocol (Appendix) with three participants in Washington County, TN, to collect data pertaining to the research question. As indicated by Table 1, I contacted a total of 32 small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, and provided an invitation to participate after researching potential participants through company websites. The eligibility requirements for the study were (a) successful small restaurant owners located in Washington County, TN, (b) small restaurant owners that had achieved sustainability beyond 3 years, and (c) small restaurant owners that had less than 500

employees. Three restaurant owners responded and agreed to participate. I conducted two interviews by telephone and one interview in person by participant request.

Table 1

Response Rate From Small Restaurant Owners

	Number of participants	Percentage of participants
Number of respondents accepted	3	9%
Number of respondents rejected	0	0%
Number of non-responses	29	91%

I collected data from all three participants that I scheduled an interview for to ensure data saturation. Noohi et al. (2016) stated that researchers should discontinue collecting data after achieving data saturation. Continuing data collection with the third participant also confirmed that I had achieved data saturation. After conducting the semistructured interviews, I used a methodological triangulation approach and member checking to enhance the collected data's validity and reliability. The methodological triangulation process included a review of data collected from interviews, observations, archived documents, and public websites. Member checking involved gaining confirmation from the participant that the interpretation of their responses is what they intended to say, as Marshall and Rossman (2016) have recommended. To gain confirmation, I created an interpretation of each interview and sent the interpretation to the participant for review and feedback.

To protect the participants' confidentiality during the data collection and analysis, I assigned an alphanumeric code for participant identification, including P1, P2, and P3. I transcribed the three interviews by hand and categorized and documented common themes and redundancies. I identified common themes using both hand-coding and the NVivo software program and stopped collecting data after reaching data saturation. To accurately identify data saturation, I ensured that no new themes emerged before discontinuing data collection. As indicated by Table 2, the identified themes included (a) customer service and relationships, (b) product quality and consistency, (c) promotion and marketing, and (d) experience. The identified themes aligned with previous findings addressed in the literature review.

Table 2

Themes

Nodes/themes	Number of respondents	Number of times participants addressed theme
Customer service and relationships	2	24
Product quality and consistency	3	22
Promotion and marketing	3	9
Experience	2	3

Theme 1: Customer Service and Relationships

The first and most discernible theme from participant responses and collected data was the need to develop customer-centric mindsets and customer relationships.

Triangulated material and supporting evidence included participant responses, observation of customer interaction during a face-to-face interview, online customer reviews, social media pages, and public websites. P2 and P3 repeatedly responded that high levels of customer service and customer relationship building levels were integral to

their long-term sustainability. These findings correlate with Dibyo et al.'s (2021) study on customer loyalty after completing e-commerce transactions that indicated a positive relationship between increased customer relationship management, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty. As P2 stated, "We have the best clientele. Our customers love us and we love them."

This theme corresponds with Kukanja et al.'s (2017) study of marketing quality dimensions that indicated that the business owner and employees most significantly influence post-purchase behavior through customer interaction. The theme also aligns with GST constructs that a business is a system with many elements that must work together, as product sales and profitability are dependent on customer service and customer relationships for continued sustainability. After manually hand-coding the data, I entered the collected data into NVivo to verify this theme, which indicated a total of two participant sources and 24 total participant references, as indicated by Table 3.

Theme 1: Customer Service and Relationships

Table 3

Node/theme	Participant sources	Total participant references
Customer service and relationships	2	24

P2 and P3 mentioned the importance of effective customer service and building long-term relationships with customers a total of 24 times. Regarding customer relationships and customer loyalty, P3 noted, "I do have some customers that come in

here 5 days a week. Some of them at least 3 or 4 days a week. There are lots of nice people here, so that helps out."

These findings align with Peppers and Rogers's (2016) study on the importance and effects of building long-term customer relationships. P2 set a goal of establishing 100 regular customers after opening the business and trained employees to remember customer names, favorite foods, and other noteworthy information that the customers may divulge. Referring to customer relationships, P2 stated,

If you walk in and the servers know your name and they know who you are, it makes you feel important. It's the kind of place you want to go all the time and it's the kind of place you want to bring your friends to impress and your business partners and your family members visiting.

Training employees to focus on customer service parallels Alhelalat et al.'s (2017) study on how employee behavior affects customer satisfaction. Understanding how cues influence customer expectations and perceptions align with Sweeney et al.'s (2016) study on cues in a restaurant setting, as personal and non-personal cues from restaurant staff affect customer interpretations and service evaluations. Thus, existing literature supports these findings that maintaining high customer service levels can contribute significantly to long-term sustainability.

P2 stated that after reaching the goal of 100 regular customers, those customers brought in family members, friends, and coworkers to show off their relationship with the restaurant owner and employees. The benefits of retaining customers draw parallels with Pandya's (2016) study on customer satisfaction that found that it costs business owners

more than six times more to attain new customers than to retain existing ones. P2 reported that customers feel valued and prideful when the restaurant owner remembers them by name and their preferences. P3 stated that relationship building with customers had created several long-term customers that have eaten at the restaurant between three and five times a week for over 30 years. As P3 noted,

My attitude towards people, I'm very friendly around people, going and talking with them. I have lots of friends, especially in this area, which is very good, nice people. Everybody knows me, I know them. Some of them, unfortunately, I forget their name, but face-wise, I know them. Sometimes if I haven't seen a customer in a few days, if I have their number, I call them or if I see them, I say "Hey, I haven't seen you, what happened? Did we do something wrong?" So, I keep a good relationship.

Leveraging social networks and relationships is valuable to entrepreneurs, as indicated by Shu et al.'s (2018) study on the entrepreneurial importance of social networking. Additionally, these findings correlate with Tanford's (2016) study measuring customer loyalty factors, with emotional commitment, satisfaction, and trust providing stronger loyalty effects than monetary and experiential factors. Therefore, the literature review and participant responses support the theme that customer service and customer relationships are vital to achieving long-term sustainability.

P2 and P3 stated that their customer relationships extended beyond the restaurant and into their personal lives. P3 stated that they would call typically devoted customers who have not patronized the business recently to check on their well-being. These

findings align with So et al.'s (2016) study on customer engagement that found that customer engagement outside the workplace strengthened service brand loyalty.

Although P3 stated that they were not born in the United States, they did not experience xenophobia or any type of resistance from potential customers. As indicated by Khosa and Kalitanyl's (2014) study on foreign entrepreneurs, xenophobia, although not widespread, can be detrimental to success. P3 did fluently speak the native language in the area, which Khosa and Kalitanyl (2014) indicated may influence customer perceptions. Thus, prior research and participant responses support the theme that customer relationships outside the workplace can attribute to long-term sustainability and that xenophobia does not affect every foreign small business owner.

Participant responses correlated to using GST for understanding the unpredictable challenges modern business leaders face in an organization. The responses corresponded with Sayin's (2016) statement that modern business leaders use GST to explore the "wholeness" of a business system rather than elementary units. Participant responses indicated that multiple elements within a system were integral to long-term sustainability, including handling issues or complaints quickly, developing rapport with customers, and training restaurant staff to exhibit positive mannerisms. As P2 noted,

I always teach my staff this when I train them. There are three keys to success to a business: the food, the ambiance, and the service. If you can achieve all three of them, then you'll be in business forever.

These findings correlate with Skytnner's (2005) assertion that solving real-world problems requires an understanding of the interconnections that exist within a system.

Participant responses and prior research support the theme that small business owners must think of and act on these elements as one system. Each element relies on the effective implementation of other elements to achieve long-term sustainability.

Theme 2: Product Quality and Consistency

The second theme was the need for small restaurant owners to maintain product quality and consistency. Triangulated material and supporting evidence included participant responses, online customer reviews, product quality assertions hanging on walls and windows, social media pages, and public websites. All three participants responded that consistently maintaining high product quality was integral to retaining customers and managing product costs, paralleling Khosa and Kalitanyl's (2014) findings that intense competition between competitors with similar products is constraining to small business owners and that business owners should focus on product differentiation. As P1 noted regarding product quality, "In the initial stages, just put out the best product that we could come up with."

The findings indicated that ensuring consistency can provide a balance to the costs associated with higher product quality. Hand coding and entering the collected data into NVivo revealed a total of three participant sources and 22 total participant references, as indicated by Table 4.

Theme 2: Product Quality and Consistency

Table 4

Node/theme	Participant sources	Total participant references
Product quality and consistency	3	22

All three participants expounded on the importance of maintaining consistently high product quality. P2 noted about food quality, "If the food is horrible, you would never go back. Sometimes a restaurant is just a hole in the wall, but the food is so amazing that they'll be lined out the door." The importance of maintaining consistent product quality correlates with Antikasari et al.'s (2021) study on 95 restaurant patrons that indicated that product quality, restaurant atmosphere, and customer value have a positive and significant influence on customer satisfaction and customer loyalty.

P1 and P3 explained the restaurant owner's necessity to monitor each product during the preparation and serving process to ensure consistent high quality and maintain optimal costs. As P1 noted, "To keep the prices affordable, you make the product yourself. That means more labor intense, which means, as an owner-operator, I'm there doing a lot of the work to keep it at that point." Also referring to product quality, P3 stated, "My father taught me that if you want to do anything, then be the best on that. It doesn't matter what it is, if you're going to have it for a long time, then be the best."

These findings correspond with Pivoda's (2016) study on managing sustainability that found that customers desire a good relationship between product quality and price.

Maintaining product quality while also assuring customer satisfaction compare with Pivoda's statement that business owners should maintain a balance between market conditions and customer expectations. Similarly, P3 stated,

I always stay in my business, I don't go anywhere, I'm always here. If I'm not working, I still come and see how they're doing. And most of the stuff I do it myself, preparing, as far as the food process. They cook, but I prepare everything.

All three participants stated that maintaining high product quality and consistency gave a competitive edge and assisted with long-term sustainability. As P1 stated,

Keep your menu focus on what you're doing, such as we're a barbeque restaurant, so we keep everything barbeque related, but try to come up with new products and keep them for a while, then change to other products to keep a fresh menu.

Instead of getting stuck in time.

Supporting evidence of this practice included the participant's website that displayed multiple product promotions for different days of the week. Although competitive pricing can be advantageous, Bamiatzi and Kirchmaier's (2014) study on superior performance strategies under adverse conditions indicated that business owners should avoid aggressive price competition with competitors and maintain optimal operation and product costs. Referring to product consistency, P3 stated "I've never changed the quality of my food, even though sometimes I have to pay more for some of the products that I use."

P3 stated that providing high-quality ingredients was more important than strictly managing costs and that freshly prepared ingredients enhanced product quality that influenced customer perception and satisfaction. Regarding ingredients, P3 stated,

I don't buy byproducts or anything. I buy fresh ground beef and make my own hamburger. Everything in here is made in the kitchen, our sauce, marinara, is

made in here. I usually do some sampling for anything new I want to do, I let the customers try a little bit and see what they think, and go from there.

Therefore, these findings and prior research indicated that focusing on higher and more consistent product quality rather than the lowest price may provide long-term sustainability benefits, depending on specific market conditions.

Participant responses regarding product quality and consistency as a system confirmed the validity of GST as the conceptual framework. Small restaurant owners can use GST while examining the relationships between phenomena within or outside of the organization, aligning with von Bertalanffy's (1950) prior research. All three participants stated that product quality and consistency were integral to higher customer satisfaction, customer retention, increased sales, and managing costs. As P3 noted regarding long-term product consistency,

I've never changed the quality of my food, that's a strategy that I've used for staying so long. I've never changed to go to a cheaper product, it always stays the same. That's why some of my customers have been coming here for 30 years.

Some customers have moved out and came back, and said 'this is the same pizza I ate 30 years ago!'

Collected data and prior literature suggested that business owners should view product quality as a system that relies on consistency, high-quality ingredients, and quality monitoring to achieve long-term sustainability.

Theme 3: Promotion and Marketing

The third theme from the findings was promotion and marketing. Triangulated material and supporting evidence included participant responses, public websites, social media pages, online customer reviews mentioning promotions, and promotional material throughout the restaurant. All three participants responded that running short and long-term promotions and word-of-mouth marketing positively influenced their long-term sustainability, aligning with prior research of Jakada et al. (2014) and Kenny and Dyson (2016). The findings indicated that a temporary loss in profitability from running promotions may be beneficial in achieving long-term sustainability through increased customer retention. Hand coding and entering the collected data into NVivo verified this theme, indicating a total of three participant sources and nine total participant references, as indicated by Table 5.

Theme 3: Promotion and Marketing

Table 5

Node/theme	Participant sources	Total participant references
Promotion and marketing	3	9

P2 stated that running continuous promotions was vital to achieving long-term sustainability due to introducing a new product to the area. As P2 mentioned, "Every Tuesday we do this promotion called free flow hours, and it's basically from every Tuesday from 5 to 7 you would come in and have unlimited tapas and unlimited wine, like house, white, red, and sangria, for \$25."

Running promotions corresponds with Tanford's (2016) study on hospitality loyalty, although monetary antecedents ranked lower than emotional and satisfaction antecedents. Similarly, P2 stated that promotions increased customer loyalty and customer retention, although at the loss of some profitability. P2 stated that customers who came in for the promotions brought in friends, family, and coworkers on repeat visits, increasing profitability and sales. As P2 mentioned,

Friends will come hang out after work and eat, and it was a really fun thing to do, and then the next time they'll bring more people. Those kinds of advertising are the best for us to actually get people in your door and try it.

The correlation between promotions and marketing reflects Pandya et al.'s (2016) study on customer satisfaction factors that discovered that customer satisfaction levels directly correspond with whether a customer will patronize a business again. After referred customers started patronizing the business, P2 stated that profitability and sales increased. All three participants indicated that low-cost marketing contributed to long-term sustainability, with word-of-mouth marketing being the more efficient and effective method. As P2 stated, "word-of-mouth is the best form of advertising that we've ever had."

As Kenny and Dyson (2016) illustrated, marketing is effective even when businesses experience resource constraints. Low-cost marketing methods such as a basic website and social media accounts assisted the participants with connecting with the customers and building relationships. As such, participant responses and prior literature

indicated that promotions and marketing could help small restaurant owners achieve long-term sustainability.

SST provided the optimal lens to view promotion and marketing as an open system that works together to drive long-term sustainability. Participant responses indicated the necessity of utilizing both promotion and marketing together, as the strategies complement each other. This theme parallels von Bertalanffy's (1950) description of an open system that allows interactions between the organization's internal elements and the external elements of the environment. The internal elements, including profitability and sales, must successfully interact with the external elements, including customer satisfaction, customer referrals, and customer retention. Therefore, participant responses and the literature review confirm that GST was an appropriate conceptual framework to analyze the promotion and marketing that small business owners used to achieve long-term sustainability.

Theme 4: Experience

The fourth theme from the findings was experience. Triangulated material and supporting evidence included participant responses. Two of the participants stated that prior experience in the restaurant industry assisted with achieving long-term sustainability. Hand coding entering the collected data into NVivo indicated a total of two participant sources and three participant references, as indicated by Table 6.

Table 6

Theme 4: Experience

Node/theme	Participant sources	Total participant references
Experience	2	3

Two of the participants had extensive experience in the restaurant industry. P1 and P3 had 35 years and 30 years respectively of restaurant experience at the time of the interviews. P2 did not have any restaurant experience prior to opening their restaurant. As P3 stated regarding previous experience,

I started out at another restaurant and moved up from busboy, salad worker, bartender, and baker. After graduating, I started coming here more often and learning the pizza process. It was easy because I was working in a restaurant as a baker, so it was easy for me to go through.

P3 stated that their previous experience in the restaurant industry involved multiple staff positions within a small restaurant and significantly affected their ability to achieve long-term sustainability. This aligned with Honig and Hopp's (2016) study on new venture planning that indicated that entrepreneurs with prior experience not only created a business plan but also adapted their plan in later stages to continually enhance business performance. However, the extensive experience from two of the participants contrasted with Agarwal and Dahm's (2015) study on success factors of ethnic restaurants that indicated that formal hospitality experience does not significantly affect

business success. Therefore, the collected data contributes to the academic field of research by indicating a positive correlation between restaurant experience and long-term sustainability.

The collected data and literature review confirmed that GST was an appropriate framework for viewing how the participant's experience affected long-term sustainability. The findings align with Skyttner's (2005) study on human complexity working as a system, as learned behaviors from prior experiences can positively impact business performance; examples include implementing effective business plans and understanding how to engage in positive customer interactions. Viewing experience as an open system wherein the internal elements consist of the individual's experiences and the external element consists of entrepreneurial success can assist researchers and business leaders in understanding the positive correlation that exists between the two elements.

Applications to Professional Practice

Small restaurant owners can apply the findings of this study to implement strategies that may assist sustainability while operating in a challenging and highly competitive environment. Understanding what strategies may ensure long-term sustainability might help restaurant owners—create business plans that increase competitiveness, customer satisfaction, and overall sales. Strategies including word of mouth advertising, building long-term relationships with customers through customer interaction and running multiple promotions to attract and retain customers can increase business performance through lowering advertising costs, increasing product sales, and increasing customer traffic. Research has revealed the vital role that small businesses fill

within the U.S. economy, with small businesses accounting for 65% of net job creation (SBA, 2018) and 10% of the overall U.S. workforce (National Restaurant Association, 2017). Successful small businesses contribute to job creation, which promotes a healthier economy (SBA, 2018). The findings of this study were also relevant to small business owners in other industries, as these themes are practical solutions that may support any small business owner with ensuring long-term sustainability. Therefore, these findings can help struggling small business owners achieve long-term sustainability by improving business operations and avoiding failure.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this study can contribute to lower restaurant failure rates, which may provide positive social change through reduced employee turnover, increased compensation, reduced stress, and increased local spending. The tangible improvements to individuals and communities could occur from the themes identified in this study: customer service and relationships, product quality and consistency, promotion and marketing, and experience. Implementing the strategies identified from the themes can lower unemployment levels and assist with achieving long-term business sustainability. Achieving long-term sustainability could lead to positive community benefits including increased local spending, lower unemployment levels, decreased welfare spending, and lower taxes.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. The results of this study

may help small restaurant owners ensure long-term sustainability, reducing employee turnover, unemployment levels, and positively affecting local communities by increasing local spending and economic growth. The framework for this study emphasized strategies small restaurant owners used to achieve long-term sustainability. The restaurant workforce comprises 10% of the overall U.S. workforce (National Restaurant Association, 2017). By implementing the strategies found in this study, small restaurant owners could increase customer retention, customer satisfaction, and product quality and consistency, which can increase profitability and economic prosperity. Based on the results of this study and the themes, I identified three recommendations for action to ensure productive use of the strategies identified in this study:

Recommendation 1

Small restaurant owners could adopt a customer-centric approach to balance cost management and achieving long-term sustainability. Customer-centric strategies promote customer retention, customer referrals, and increased sales. Factors that determine customer satisfaction include (a) appropriate behavior from employees, (b) friendly and comforting atmosphere, (c) knowledgeable employees, and (d) timely service (Pandya et al., 2016). Customers relish and desire recognition for patronizing a restaurant from both restaurant staff and the owner. Small restaurant owners could implement a customer-centric approach that focuses on employee engagement and customer retention that could reduce operating costs, increase brand recognition, and provide community benefits.

Recommendation 2

Small restaurant owners could implement promotion and marketing to attract customers and increase overall sales. Although marketing can be expensive for small restaurant owners, Kenny and Dyson (2016) posited that marketing is beneficial to small businesses, even if the business owner experiences resource constraints. Collected data revealed a high correlation between customer attraction and promotion implementation, particularly when introducing an unfamiliar product. Small restaurant owners could employ low-cost marketing methods, including a basic website and a social media presence, for attracting customers and increasing customer retention.

Recommendation 3

Creating differentiation through high product quality and consistency can assist small restaurant owners in achieving long-term sustainability. Business owners can maintain a balance between quality and price, as recommended by Pivoda (2016). Small restaurant owners could ensure high product quality and resolve any quality issues as quickly as possible by maintaining a physical presence within the business. Ensuring a consistent, high-quality product may enhance customer retention, increase sales, and maintain product costs.

Analyzing and evaluating the results and recommendations from this study could assist small restaurant owners with achieving long-term sustainability in this industry and region. I will provide each participant with a summarized version and a full copy of the study for future reference and distribution. If requested, I will provide the results of this study to other small restaurant owners through conferences, summits, or local training

events. I also invite current and future academics to expound upon this study in future research.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. Recommendations for further research related to understanding what strategies small restaurant owners use to achieve long-term sustainability include expanding the study to different geographical locations. The targeted population was small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, that had achieved long-term sustainability beyond 3 years. Long-term sustainability strategies may differ from small restaurant owners in Washington County, TN, compared to more populated areas. Expanding the study to small restaurant owners outside of Washington County, TN, may provide additional strategies regarding achieving long-term sustainability.

Finally, I recommend conducting a study to research social media strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure long-term sustainability. Although none of the participants mentioned social media presence as instrumental to long-term sustainability or as a developed strategy, the rural geographical location and customer demographics may have created an undervaluing of this technology. The research question could explore the effects of social media presence on small restaurants or social media strategies that small restaurant owners use to achieve long-term sustainability.

Reflections

While collecting data for the study, I conducted semistructured interviews with three successful restaurant owners who maintained sustainability beyond 3 years. During this process, I was able to gain an immense amount of knowledge regarding small restaurant operations. This knowledge has deepened my understanding of the pressures and challenges small restaurant owners face on a day-to-day basis. I did not have any personal biases or preconceived ideas toward small restaurant ownership, preventing any effects on the participants or collected data. Due in part to the local business owners' affable personalities and my desire to understand the unique difficulties that entrepreneurs face in this industry, the data collection process was enjoyable. Participants did not refuse document verification; they simply did not retain many financial documents supporting their responses. However, the participants were more than willing to divulge all the information they believed would support the research study and other restaurant owners. The data collection process was a unique experience that has inspired an interest in the future ownership of a small business.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years. As noted, prior research has revealed the vital importance of small restaurant owners in the U.S. economy. The four themes, including (a) customer service and relationships, (b) product quality and consistency, (c) promotion and marketing, and (d) experience, linked back to prior research and the conceptual framework. The collected data indicated that achieving

a higher education also played a role in long-term sustainability, which is a debated topic among prior researchers. The findings of this study may provide practical solutions for any struggling small business owner, even in unrelated industries, to promote long-term sustainability. These findings have contributed to scholarly research on small restaurant owners by filling a gap in the existing literature on what strategies small restaurant owners use to ensure long-term sustainability.

References

- Achleitner, A. K., Braun, R., Metzger, G., & Schmidt, M. (2016). The impact of the financial crisis on financing technology ventures. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business*, 29(1), 4-24. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJESB.2016.078051
- Adams, K. M., Hester, P. T., Bradley, J. M., Meyers, T. J., & Keating, C. B. (2014). Systems theory as the foundation for understanding systems. *Systems*Engineering, 17(1), 112-123. https://doi.org/10.1002/sys.21255
- Agarwal, R., & Dahm, M. J. (2015). Success factors in independent ethnic restaurants.

 Journal of Foodservice Business Research, 18(1), 20-33.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2015.995749
- Aithal, P. S. (2016). Study on ABCD analysis technique for business models, business strategies, operating concepts & business systems. *International Journal in Management and Social Science*, 4(1), 98-115.

 https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.161137
- Alhelalat, J. A., Habiballah, M. A., & Twaissi, N. M. (2017). The impact of personal and functional aspects of restaurant employee service behaviour on customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 66, 46-53.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHM.2017.07.001
- Alstete, J. W. (2014). Strategy choices of potential entrepreneurs. *Journal of Education for Business*, 89(2), 77-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2012.759094

- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23(3), 121-127. NCBI.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Amed, S. (2015). The future of treating youth-onset Type 2 diabetes: Focusing upstream and extending our influence into community environments. *Current Diabetes**Reports, 15(3), 7-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-015-0576-7
- Andersson, M., & Henrekson, M. (2015). Local competitiveness fostered through local institutions for entrepreneurship. In D. B. Audretsch, A. N. Link, & M. Walshok (Eds.), *Oxford Handbook of Local Competitiveness*. Oxford University Press.
- Antikasari, R., Baktiono, A., Arimbawa, I. G., & Damayanti, E. (2021). The influence of product, restaurant atmosphere, customer value, and customer loyalty through customer satisfaction as mediation (Case study on choic dimsum surabaya).

 Quantitative Economics and Management Studies, 2(4), 244-250.

 https://doi.org/10.35877/454RI.qems321
- Bailey, C. A., & Bailey, C. R. (2017). *A guide to qualitative field research*. (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Bamiatzi, V., Jones, S., Mitchelmore, S., & Nikolopoulos, K. (2015). The role of competencies in shaping the leadership style of female entrepreneurs: The case of north west of England, Yorkshire, and North Wales. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53(3), 627-644. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12173
- Bamiatzi, V. C., & Kirchmaier, T. (2014). Strategies for superior performance under adverse conditions: A focus on small and medium-sized high-growth firms.

- International Small Business Journal, 32(3), 259-284. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242612459534
- Baxter, J. (2016). Speaking out: The female voice in public contexts. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data:*Systematic approaches. (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Berry, L. E. (2016). The research relationship in narrative enquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 24(1), 10-14. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2016.e1430
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bitektine, A., & Miller, D. (2015). Methods, theories, data, and the social dynamics of organizational research. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 24(2), 115-130. https://doi.org/10.1177/1056492614546897
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053
- Bogers, M. Zoebel, A. K., Afuah, A., Almirall, E., Brunswicker, S., Dahlander, L., & Hagedoorn, J. (2017). The open innovation research landscape: Established perspectives and emerging themes across different levels of analysis. *Industry and Innovation*, 24(1), 8-40. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2817865
- Booth, A., Sutton, A., & Papaioannou, D. (2016). Systematic approaches to a successful literature review (2nd ed.). Sage.

- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 42(1), 76-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). Survival of private sector establishments by opening year. *U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics*.

 http://www.bls.gov/bdm/us_age_naics-72_table7.txt
- Chou, C. J., Chen, C. W., & Conley, C. (2015). An approach to assessing sustainable product-service systems. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 86(1), 277-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.08.059
- Crilly, D., Hansen, M., & Zollo, M. (2016). The grammar of decoupling: A cognitive-linguistic perspective on firm's sustainability claims and stakeholder's interpretation. *Academy of Management Journal*, *59*(2), 705-729. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0171
- Dal-Ré, R., Carcas, A. J., Carné, X., & Wendler, D. (2017). Patients' beliefs regarding informed consent for low-risk pragmatic trials. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 17(1), 145. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0424-3
- Davcik, N. S., & Sharma, P. (2015). Impact of product differentiation, marketing investments, and brand equity on pricing strategies: A brand level investigation.
 European Journal of Marketing, 49(5), 760-781. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-03-2014-0150

- Delmatoff, J., & Lazarus, I. R. (2014). The most effective leadership style for the new landscape of healthcare. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 59(4), 245-249.

 **American College of Healthcare Executives. https://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-201407000-00003
- Desai, M. N., Lockett, A., & Paton, D. (2016). The effects of leader succession and prior leader experience on post succession organizational performance. *Human Resource Management*, 55(6), 967-984. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21700
- Devece, C., Peris-Ortiz, M., & Reuda-Armengot, C. (2016). Entrepreneurship during economic crisis: Success factors and paths to failure. *Journal of Business**Research, 69(11), 5366-5370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.139
- Dibyo, B., Mangifera, L., Putri, P. A., & Wardani, S. F. (2021). Effectiveness of customer relationship management (CRM) and customer satisfaction on shopee customer loyalty. *Issues on Inclusive Growth in Developing Countries*, 2(1), 31-40. https://journal.iseisolo.org/index.php/isei
- Doody, O., & Bailey, M. E. (2016). Setting a research question, aim, and objective. *Nurse Researcher*, 23(4), 19-23. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.23.4.19.s5
- Dunne, T. C., Aaron, J. R., McDowell, W. C., Urban, D. J., & Geho, P. R. (2016). The impact of leadership on small business innovativeness. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(11), 4876-4881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.046
- Fikkers, K. M., Piotrowski, J. T., & Valkenburg, P. M. (2017). Assessing the reliability and validity of television and game violence exposure measures. *Communication Research*, 44(1), 117-143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215573863

- Fiedler, F. E. (1964). A contingency model of leadership effectiveness. *Journal for Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 1, 149-190.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60051-9
- Field, H. H. (2015). *Science without numbers: The defence of nominalism.* Princeton University Press.
- Fleisher, C. S., & Bensoussan, B. E. (2015). *Business and competitive analysis* (2nd ed.). Pearson Education.
- Flood, R. L. (2013). Liberating systems theory. Plenum Press.
- Floman, J. L., Hagelskamp, C., Brackett, M. A., & Rivers, S. E. (2017). Emotional bias in classroom observations: Within-rater positive emotion predicts favorable assessments of classroom quality. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 35(3), 291-301. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282916629595
- Fong, N. M., Fang, Z., & Luo, X. (2015). Geo-conquesting: Competitive locational targeting of mobile promotions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 52(5), 726-735. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.14.0229
- Fraser, S., Bhaumik, S., & Wright, M. (2015). What do we know about entrepreneurial finance and its relationship with growth? *International Small Business Journal*, 33(1), 70-88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242614547827
- Guo, X., & Guo, X. (2016). A panel data analysis of the relationship between air pollutant emissions, economics, and industrial structure of China. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 52(6), 1315-1324. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496X.2016.1152792

Greene, P. G., Brush, C. G., & Brown, T. E. (1997). Resources in small firms: An exploratory study. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 8(2), 25-40. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*.

https://libjournals.mtsu.edu/index.php/jsbs/article/view/367

Grotsch, V. M., Blome, C., & Schleper, M. C. (2013). Antecedents of proactive supply chain risk management—a contingency theory perspective. *International Journal of Production Research*, *51*(10), 2842-2867. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.746796

Gummesson, E. (2014). Productivity, quality, and relationship marketing in service operations: A revisit in a new service paradigm. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26(5), 656-662.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2014-0017

- Gupta, A., & Muita, S. R. (2013). Relationship between entrepreneurial personality, performance, job satisfaction and operations strategy: An empirical examination. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(2), 86-95.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v8n2p86
- Hagen, B., & Zucchella, A. (2014). Born global or born to run? The long-term growth of born global firms. *Management International Review*, 54(4), 497-525. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-014-0214-7
- Hancock, M. E., & Algozzine, B. (2017). Doing case study research. (3rd ed.). Teachers College Press.

- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(11), 2124-2130. *TQR*. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13
- Hashim, M. H. M. (2015). Using technology and instructional E-Material among technical teacher and student into teaching and learning: A qualitative case study.
 International Education Studies, 8(3), 175-180.
 https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v8n3p175
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in Journal of Counseling & Development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12074
- Healy, J. J., & Mac Con Iomaire, M. (2019). Calculating restaurant failure rates using longitudinal census data. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 17(4), 350-372. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2018.1459999
- Heckathorn, D. D., & Cameron, C. J. (2017). Network sampling: From snowball and multiplicity to respondent-driven sampling. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 43(1), 101-119. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053556
- Herciu, M. (2017). Financing small businesses: From venture capital to crowdfunding. Studies in Business and Economics, 12(2), 63-69. https://doi.org/10.1515/sbe-2017-0022
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2017). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.

- Homburg, C., Jozić, D., & Kuehnl, C. (2017). Customer experience management:

 Toward implementing an evolving marketing concept. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(3), 377-401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-015-0460-7
- Honig, B., & Hopp, C. (2016). New venture planning and lean start-up activities: A longitudinal empirical study of entrepreneurial success, founder preferences, and venture context. *Models of Start-up Thinking and Action, 18*, 75-108. *Emerald Insight*. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1074-754020160000018003
- Hyder, S., & Lussier, R. N. (2016). Why businesses succeed or fail: A study on small businesses in Pakistan. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*, 8(1), 82-100. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEEE-03-2015-0020
- Iqbal, S., Zakar, R., Zakar, M., Z., & Fischer, F. (2017). Perceptions of adolescents' sexual and reproductive health and rights: A cross-sectional study in Lahore District, Pakistan. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 17(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-017-0113-7
- Jack, S., DiCenso, A., & Lohfeld, L. (2016). Opening doors: Factors influencing the establishment of a working relationship between paraprofessional home visitors and at-risk families. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive*, *34*(4), 59-69. *McGill*. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12619478
- Jayaweera, T. (2015). Impact of work environmental factors on job performance, mediating role of work motivation: A study of hotel sector in England.

 *International journal of business and management, 10(3), 271-278.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v10n3p271

- Jedrzejczak, J., & Anders, G. J. (2017). Transition rates assessment of protective relay reliability models with incomplete data. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, 32(1), 809-816. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2016.2564358
- Johnston, M. W., & Marshall, G. W. (2016). Sales force management: Leadership, innovation, technology. Routledge.
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043-1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semistructured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Karadag, H. (2015). Financial management challenges in small and medium-sized enterprises: A strategic management approach. *Emerging Markets Journal*, *5*(1), 26-40. https://doi.org/10.5195/emaj.2015.67
- Kearney, C., & Meynhardt, T. (2016). Directing corporate entrepreneurship strategy in the public sector to public value antecedents, components, and outcomes. *International Public Management Journal*, 19(4), 543-572. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2016.1160013
- Kenny, B., & Dyson, K. (2016). *Marketing in small businesses*. Routledge.
- Khosa, R. M., & Kalitanyi, V. (2014). Challenges in operating micro-enterprises by African foreign entrepreneurs in Cape Town, South Africa. *Mediterranean*

- Journal of Social Sciences, 5(10), 205-215. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n10p205
- Kristin, L. K. K. (2016). Using the cognitive pretesting method to gain insight into participants' experiences. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *15*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915624577
- Krueger, A. B., Colletti, P., Bogner, H. R., Barg, F. K., & Stineman, M. G. (2017).

 Conducting focus groups in Second Life on health-related topics. *Journal of Alternative Medicine Research*, 9(2), 135-139. *Pcori*. https://www.pcori.org/
- Kukanja, M., Omerzel, D. G., & Kodrič, B. (2017). Ensuring restaurant quality and guests' loyalty: An integrative model based on marketing (7P) approach. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 28(13), 1509-1525.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1150172
- Kuratko, D. F. (2016). *Entrepreneurship: Theory, process, and practice*. (10th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Lam, W., & Harker, M. J. (2015). Marketing and entrepreneurship: An integrated view from the entrepreneur's perspective. *International Small Business Journal*, *33*(3), 321-348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242613496443
- Lee, C., Hallak, R., & Sardeshmukh, S. R. (2016). Innovation, entrepreneurship, and restaurant performance: A higher-order structural model. *Tourism Management*, 53, 215-228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.09.017
- Linton, G. (2014). Contingency theory in entrepreneurship research. *Digitala Vetenskapliga Arkivet, 44*(1), 1-46. *DiVA*. https://www.diva-portal.org/

- Luhmann, N. (2017). Critical theory and epistemology: The politics of modern thought and science. Manchester University Press.
- Lun, Y. V., Shang, K. C., Lai, K. H., & Cheng, T. C. E. (2016). Examining the influence of organizational capability in innovative business operations and the mediation of profitability on customer satisfaction: An application in intermodal transport operators in Taiwan. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 171(2), 179-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.02.019
- Machi, L. A., & McEvoy, B. T. (2016). *The literature review: Six steps to success* (3rd ed.). Corwin.
- Male, T. (2016). Analyzing quantitative data. In I. Palaiologou, D. Needham, and T. Male (Eds.), *Doing research in education: Theory and practice* (pp. 177-191). Sage.
- Mangal, V. (2013). Systems theory and social networking: Investigation of systems theory principles in web 2.0 social network systems. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 3(1), 117-133. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*. https://www.ijbcnet.com/3-1/IJBC-13-21211.pdf
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Martin, W. E., & Bridgmon, K. D. (2012). Quantitative and statistical research methods: From hypothesis to results. Jossey-Bass.
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational, and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5(4), 117-130.

- Journal of Business Studies Quarterly.
- https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272353199
- McQuarrie, E. F. (2015). The market research toolbox: A concise guide for beginners (4th ed.). Sage.
- Meier, D. (2016). Situational leadership theory as a foundation for a blended learning framework. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(10), 25-30. *ISTE*. https://iste.org/
- Menz, M., & Scheef, C. (2015). Chief strategy officers: Contingency analysis of their presence in top management teams. *Strategic Management Journal*, *35*(3), 461-471. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2104
- Moloczij, N., Krishnasamy, M., Butow, P., Hack, T. F., Stafford, L., Jefford, M., & Schofield, P. (2017). Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of audiorecordings and question prompt lists in cancer care consultations: A qualitative study. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100(6), 1083-1091. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.01.005
- National Restaurant Association. (2017). Facts at a glance. National Restaurant

 Association. https://www.restaurant.org/
- Nelson, A. M. (2016). Methodology for examining attributes of African Americans in the department of defense senior executive service corp. *Journal of Economic Development, Management, IT, Finance, and Marketing, 8*(1), 48-68. *Proquest.*https://www.proquest.com/

- Noohi, E., Peyrovi, H., Goghary, Z. I., & Kazemi, M. (2016). Perception of social support among family caregivers of vegetative patients: A qualitative study.

 Consciousness and Cognition, 41, 150-158.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2016.02.015
- Northouse, P. G. (2015). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (7th ed.). Sage Publications.
- O'Cass, A., & Sok, P. (2014). The role of intellectual resources, product innovation capability, reputational resources and marketing capability combinations in firm growth. *International Small Business Journal*, 32(8), 996-1018. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242613480225
- Otero, E. L., Gallego, P. A. M., & Pratt, R. M. (2014). Click-and-Mortar SMEs:

 Attracting customers to your website. *Business Horizons*, *57*(6), 729-736.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.07.006
- Otley, D. (2016). The contingency theory of management accounting and control: 1980–2014. *Management accounting research*, 31, 45-62.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mar.2016.02.001
- Padgett, D. K. (2016). *Qualitative methods in social work research* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Palmer, J. C., Wright, R. E., & Powers, J. B. (2001). Innovation and competitive advantage in small businesses: Effects of environments and business strategy.

 Journal of Small Business Strategy, 12(1), 30-41. Journals @ MTSU.

 https://libjournals.mtsu.edu/

- Pandya, T., Mathur, N., & Mathur, M. H. (2016). Customer satisfaction in public sector bank (A study of South Rajasthan). *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary**Research*, 2(9), 550-556. *IJIR. https://www.onlinejournal.in
- Panwar, R., Nybakk, E., Hansen, E., & Pinkse, J. (2017). Does the business case matter?

 The effect of a perceived business case on small firms' social engagement. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 144(3), 597-608. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2835-6
- Para, P. D. (2016). Financial literacy continuing professional education cognitive needs assessment for Florida small business owners (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Florida). Scholar Commons. https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Though*, *3*(1), 1-7.

 https://doi.org/:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parsa, H. G., Van der Rest, J. I., Smith, S. A., Parsa, A. R., & Bujisic, M. (2015). Why restaurants fail? Part IV: The relationship between restaurant failures and demographic factors, *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 56(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965514551959
- Patten, M. L. (2017). Questionnaire research: A practical guide (4th ed.). Routledge.
- Paulus, T. M., & Bennett, A. M. (2017). I have a love-hate relationship with ATLAS.ti: integrating qualitative data analysis software into a graduate research methods course. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40(1), 19-35. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1056137

- Peppers, D., & Rogers, M. (2016). *Managing customer experience and relationships: A strategic framework*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Pivoda, R. M. (2016). Managing sustainability throughout supporting activities.

 Economics, Management & Financial Markets, 11(1), 224-230. Addleton

 Academic Publishers. https://www.addletonacademicpublishers.com/economics-management-and-financial-markets
- Plummer, P. (2017). Focus group methodology. Part 2: Considerations for analysis.

 *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 24(8), 345-351.

 https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2017.24.8.345
- Potschin-Young, M., Haines-Young, R., Gorg, C., Heink, U., Jax, K., & Schleyer, C. (2018). Understanding the role of conceptual frameworks: Reading the ecosystem service cascade. *Ecosystem Services*, 29, 428-440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.05.015
- Prasad, P. (2015). *Crafting qualitative research: Working in the postpositivist traditions*. Routledge.
- Purves, N., Niblock, S. J., & Sloan, K. (2015). On the relationship between financial and non-financial factors. *Agricultural Finance Review*, 75(2), 282-300. https://doi.org/10.1108/AFR-04-2014-0007
- Rosalin, G., Poulston, J., & Goodsir, W. (2016). Strategy communication in family-owned restaurants: Ad hoc and ad-lib. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 17(2), 101-122.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2015.1126798

- Saab, M. M., Landers, M., & Hegarty, J. (2017). Exploring awareness and help-seeking intentions for testicular symptoms among heterosexual, gay, and bisexual men in Ireland: A qualitative descriptive study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 67, 41-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.11.016
- Sayin, H. U. (2016). A short introduction to system theory: Indispensable postulate systems and basic structures of the systems in quantum physics, biology, and neuroscience. *Neuroquantology*, *14*(1), 126-142.

 https://doi.org/10.14704/nq.2016.14.1.855
- Seelhofer, D., & Valeri, G. (2017). The interplay between leadership and team performance: An empirical investigation in a major swiss hr consulting firm.

 Central European Business Review, 6(1), 5-25.

 https://doi.org/10.18267/j.cebr.170
- Self, J. T., Jones, M. F., & Botieff, M. (2015). Where restaurants fail: A Longitudinal Study of Micro Locations. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 18(4), 328-340. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2015.1068670
- Showry, M., & Manasa, K. V. L. (2014). Self-awareness-key to effective leadership. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 8(1), 15-26. *IUP Publications*. https://www.iupindia.in
- Shu, R., Ren, S., & Zheng, Y. (2018). Building networks into discovery: The link between entrepreneur network capability and entrepreneurial opportunity discovery. *Journal of Business Research*, 85, 197-208.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.12.048

- Skyttner, L. (2005). *General systems theory: Problems, perspectives, practice* (2nd ed.). World Scientific.
- So, K. K. F., King, C., Sparks, B. A., & Wang, Y. (2016). The role of customer engagement in building consumer loyalty to tourism brands. *Journal of Travel Research*, 55(1), 64-78. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287514541008
- Spatz, E. S., Krumholz, H. M., & Moulton, B. W. (2016). The new era of informed consent: Getting to a reasonable-patient standard through shared decision making. *JAMA*, 315(19), 2063-2064. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.3070
- Sufian, A. J. M. (2015). Methods and techniques of social research. *International Journal of Business and Statistical Analysis*, 2(2), 91-97. *University of Bahrain*. https://www.uob.edu.bh/
- Sun, D., Hyland, P., & Cui, H. (2014). A designed framework for delivering systems thinking skills to small business managers. *Systems*, 2(3), 297-312. https://doi.org/10.3390/systems2030297
- Sweeney, J., Armstrong, R. W., & Johnson, L. W. (2016). The effect of cues on service quality expectations and service selection in a restaurant setting. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 30(2), 136-140. https://doi.org/10.1108/jsm-01-2016-0010
- Tanford, S. (2016). Antecedents and outcomes of hospitality loyalty. *Cornett Hospitality Quarterly*, 57(2), 122-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965516640121
- Tate, W. L., Ellram, L. M., Schoenherr, T., & Petersen, K. J. (2015). Global competitive conditions driving the manufacturing location decision. *Business Horizons*, *57*(3), 381-390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2013.12.010

Taylor, A., & Taylor, M. (2014). Factors influencing effective implementation of performance measurement systems in small and medium-sized enterprises and large firms: A perspective from Contingency Theory. *International Journal of Production Research*, 52(3), 847-866. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2013.842023

Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435

U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). Washington County quickfacts. United States Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/washingtoncountytennessee,US/BZ

<u>A010216#viewtop</u>

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

 HHS.gov. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2018). Small business facts and infographics. U.S.
 Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy
 https://www.sba.gov/advocacy/small-business-facts-and-infographics
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100-108. https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100

- Valentinov, V. (2014). The complexity-sustainability tradeoff in Niklas Luhmann's social systems theory. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 31(1), 14-22. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2146
- Vallon, R., & Grechenig, T. (2016). Ten heuristics from applying agile practices across different distribution scenarios: A multiple-case study. *Computer and Information Science*, 9(2), 68. https://doi.org/10.5539/cis.v9n2p68
- Van Gelderen, M., Thurik, R., & Patel, P. (2011). Encountered problems and outcome status in nascent entrepreneurship. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 49(1), 71-91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-627X.2010.00315.x
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation, and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40-50.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Visser, E. B., & Weideman, M. (2014). Fusing website usability and search engine optimization (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses Database. (UMI No. 1534142288)
- Voight, M. (2014). Leadership education and development for strength and conditioning professionals and team leaders. *Strength & Conditioning Journal*, *36*(1), 52-62. https://doi.org/10.1519/SSC.0000000000000001
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1950). An outline of general systems theory. *British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, 1(2), 134-165. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjps/I.2.134

- Wang, L., Gopal, R., Shankar, R., & Pancras, J. (2015). On the brink: Predicting business failure with mobile location-based check-ins. *Decision Support Systems*, 76, 3-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2015.04.010
- Westwood, J. (2019). *How to write a marketing plan* (6th ed.). Kogan Page Publishers.
- Wilson, R., Slaughter, S. E., Forbes, D., Hanson, H. M., & Khadaroo, R. G. (2016).

 Experiences of a novice researcher conducting focus group interviews.

 International Journal of Nursing Student Scholarship, 3, 1-11. International

 Journal of Nursing Student Scholarship. https://ijnss.journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS-ti and NVivo, 1994-2013.

 Social Science Computer Review, 34(5), 597-617.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439315596311
- Yazdanifard, R., & Li, M. T H. (2014). The review of Alibaba's online business marketing strategies, which navigate them to present success. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*, *14*(7), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.17406/GJMBR
 Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications* (6th ed.). Sage.

Appendix: Interview Protocol

The research question is: What strategies do small restaurant owners use to ensure sustainability beyond 3 years? This qualitative multiple case study will consist of six open-ended interview questions to gain strategies and knowledge from small restaurant owners that have achieved sustainability beyond 3 years in Washington County, TN.

Protocol Steps	Protocol Actions
Select participants	I will contact potential participants by phone, email, or other online measures deemed appropriate by Walden's guidelines.
Set time and place	Interviews will occur online, over the phone, via video
for interviews	conferencing, or at the participant's office or public space at an agreed-upon time.
Introduce the	I will reiterate the research study's purpose, obtain verbal consent
interview and	from each participant, and provide a written consent form.
obtain consent	
Record the	I will advise the participant that the interview will be audio recorded
interview and	for accuracy and follow-up. The interview will begin with the
maintain a time	participant's background information, including (a) educational
limit	background, (b) title/position, and (c) years of experience. There
	will be a time limit of 45 minutes for each interview.
Initiate the	1. What strategies does your organization use to ensure your small
interview while	restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
observing non- verbal cues,	2. How did you identify strategies to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
paraphrasing when	3. How did you assess the effectiveness of strategies to ensure
necessary, and	sustainability beyond 3 years?
asking follow-up	4. What key barriers did you encounter in the implementation of
questions to ensure complete and in-	strategies to ensure your small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years?
depth responses	5. How did you overcome these key barriers?
	6. What additional information regarding strategies to ensure your
	small restaurant's sustainability beyond 3 years would you like to
	share that we have not already discussed?

Thank the	I will thank the participant for their time and involvement in the
participant and set	research study and set expectations for receiving the interview
a follow-up time	transcription.
Conduct member	After the interview, the participant will receive an interpretation of
checking	the data collected to ensure accuracy and validity.